Western SGraduate & Postdoctoral Studies

Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

6-18-2012 12:00 AM

# The Relationship between Predation Pressure, Demography and Genetic Diversity in Song Sparrow (Melospiza melodia) Populations

Michelle E. Bondy The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Dr. Liana Zanette *The University of Western Ontario* 

Graduate Program in Biology A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Master of Science © Michelle E. Bondy 2012

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Ecology and Evolutionary Biology Commons

### **Recommended Citation**

Bondy, Michelle E., "The Relationship between Predation Pressure, Demography and Genetic Diversity in Song Sparrow (Melospiza melodia) Populations" (2012). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 614.

https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/614

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

## The Relationship between Predation Pressure, Demography and Genetic Diversity in Song Sparrow (*Melospiza melodia*) Populations

(Spine title: Predation Pressure and Genetic Diversity in Song Sparrows)

(Thesis format: Monograph)

by

Michelle Emily Bondy

Graduate Program in Biology

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada © Michelle E. <u>Bondy</u> 2012

## THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

### **CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION**

**Supervisor** 

Dr. Liana Zanette

Supervisory Committee

Dr. Nusha Keyghobadi

Dr. Beth MacDougall-Shackleton

Examiners [Variable]

Dr. Nusha Keyghobadi

Dr. Jim Staples

Dr. Graham Thompson

The thesis by

Michelle Emily <u>Bondy</u>

entitled:

The Relationship between Predation Pressure, Demography and Genetic Diversity in Song Sparrow (*Melospiza melodia*) Populations

is accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Master of Science** 

Date\_\_\_\_\_

Chair of the Thesis Examination Board

### Abstract

While the impacts of predators on prey demography are well studied, relatively few studies have explored how predators affect the population genetics of prey. I investigated the effects of predation pressure on genetic diversity and genetic similarity in song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) and the demographic mechanisms (births, deaths and dispersal) that may drive this relationship. I compared genetic diversity and genetic similarity (measured at 13 neutral microsatellite loci) between landscapes (island and mainland), and between populations within each landscape. In every comparison, sparrows inhabiting the landscape or population with higher nest predation were more related to one another, and in one comparison, had lower genetic diversity. High nest predation also was associated with reduced birth and population growth rates, and increased variance in reproductive success. Thus, the effects predators have on prey demography may negatively impact the genetic diversity of prey populations, beyond their effects on prey population size.

**Keywords:** predation pressure, genetic diversity, standardized heterozygosity, relatedness, genetic similarity, nest predation, prey demography, variance in reproductive success, song sparrows, microsatellites

### **Co-Authorship**

Dr. Liana Zanette will be the second co-author, and Dr. Michael Clinchy the third co-author, on any manuscript to be published from this thesis. Liana and Mike both assisted in designing the study, and provided me with the blood samples from which I extracted the DNA for this study, as well as with the long-term demographic data that allowed me to calculate various demographic parameters for this study. Liana and Mike also provided support and advice for many statistical analyses, and the editing of this thesis.

### Acknowledgements

I thank my supervisors, Dr. Liana Zanette and Dr. Michael Clinchy, for providing me with the opportunity to do this research. Since we first began working together in the summer of 2009, they have taught me a great deal about what it means to do good science. It often seemed that they were more confident in my abilities than I was, and I thank them for pushing me to do better in all aspects of my work, and encouraging and helping me along the way.

This project would have been much more difficult were it not for my advisors, Dr. Nusha Keyghobadi and Dr. Beth MacDougall-Shackleton. Nusha and Beth were extremely generous with their time, knowledge, and in Beth's case, reagents and supplies, when I needed assistance with my lab work and genetic analyses. I thank them for all of their help along the way.

I am also grateful for the help of many other members of the department (past and present), including Jenna Kewin, Yani Sarquis-Adamson, Dr. Shawn Garner, Dr. Gordana Rasic, Dr. André Lachance, and Dr. Michael Anderson. Thanks to various members of the Zanette/Clinchy lab who came before me and collected the blood samples from which I extracted my DNA. There were many undergraduate students, volunteers and other lab visitors who were here for only a short time but still provided input at lab meetings, and I thank them as well. I thank the UWO Biology department for financial support, as well as NSERC, which, through funding Liana's research program, provided the majority of the funds for this project.

v

Thank you to my labmates, Marek Allen, David Swan, and Aija White. As colleagues, they have helped me every step of the way, and I have learned a great deal from each of them. As friends, whenever I needed a break from work, they were always available to watch Youtube videos or have a good bickering session, to rant about our research and discuss recent podcasts, and to knit and talk about bad TV movies.

To my friends and family, thank you for your constant encouragement. Jenny, Matt, Diana and Deleila, thanks for always being there. A special thanks to the Lees, who gave me a home away from home. Finally, I thank my parents, especially my mom, for everything. Thank you for making me and my research a priority, even when so much was going on, and for not allowing me to give up. I could write another 113-page thesis expressing my love and gratitude, and it wouldn't be enough.

### **Table of Contents**

Certificate of Examination	ii
Abstract and Keywords	iii
Co-Authorship	iv
Acknowledgements	V
Table of Contents	vii
List of Tables	X
List of Figures	xi
List of Appendices	xvi
Chapter 1: Introduction	
1.1 The importance of genetic diversity	1
1.2 Integrating demography and genetics to assess population declines	2
1.3 Island and mainland populations often differ ecologically and geneti	cally4
1.4 The effects of predators on demography and genetic diversity	5
1.5 Study species and system	11
1.6 Research objectives and hypotheses	14
Chapter 2: Methods	
2.1 Study locations and general methods	16
2.2 Genotyping	16
2.3 Testing assumptions	21
2.4 Genetic structure	23
2.5 Measuring and comparing genetic diversity and relatedness	26
2.6 Measuring and comparing predation pressure	

2.7 Assessing potential mechanisms driving patterns in genetic diversity30
2.8 Correlating standardized heterozygosity and relatedness with demographic
mechanisms
Chapter 3: Results
3.1 <i>Genetic structure</i>
3.2 Genetic diversity and relatedness
3.3 Predation pressure: daily survival rates (DSRs) of nests and adult survival47
3.4 Identifying immigrants to measure dispersal
3.5 Bottleneck analysis50
3.6 Per capita rate of reproduction and finite rate of increase $(\lambda)$
3.7 Variance in reproductive success as a result of predation
3.8 Correlating standardized heterozygosity, relatedness and demographic
mechanisms
Chapter 4: Discussion
4.1 General discussion
4.2 Genetic structure of song sparrows65
4.3 Relationship between dispersal and genetic diversity67
4.4 Patterns of predation, genetic diversity and relatedness
Chapter 5: Summary and Conclusions
5.1 <i>Summary</i>
5.2 Conclusions77
Bibliography79

## Appendix A

	A1 Genetic diversity and relatedness	88
Apper	ndix B	
	B1 Daily survival rates	90
	B2 Adult survival	90
	B3 Per capita reproduction, egg production and finite rate of increase $(\lambda)$	92
	B4 Variance in reproductive success as a result of predation	92
	B5 Correlating standardized heterozygosity, relatedness and demographic	
	mechanisms	92
Curric	culum Vitae	96

### List of Tables

Table 2.1 Number of song sparrows (Melospiza melodia) genotyped from each sampling
location
Table 2.2.   Seventeen microsatellite primers used for genotyping song sparrows
(Melospiza melodia)
<b>Table 3.1</b> . Between-site comparisons of genetic similarity $(r)$ for both the landscape and
population levels
Table 3.2. Summary of nest and adult survival of song sparrows (Melospiza melodia), as
well as finite rate of population growth (lambda) for the two landscapes and all

populations under study.		.49
--------------------------	--	-----

### **List of Figures**

**Figure 3.10**. Mean (±SE) coefficient of variation of the number of fledged offspring for song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) inhabiting (a) the island and mainland landscapes, (b) Rum and Portland Islands, and (c) Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake on the mainland......60

**Figure B2.** Spearman's rank correlations of standardized heterozygosity of song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) with a) daily survival rates of nests, b) per capita rates of reproduction, c) lambda (population growth rates), d) the proportion of females who successfully fledged at least one nestling, e) the coefficient of variation of the number of

## List of Appendices

Appendix A: Results for genetic diversity and relatedness with only Rum, Portland and
Russell Islands included in the island landscape
Appendix B: Results for demographic analyses amongst island populations, including
Russell Island

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

### 1.1 The importance of genetic diversity

Genetic diversity is a fundamental requirement for the long-term viability of populations, as it is the raw material upon which evolution acts. As a result of its importance, genetic diversity is recognized by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) as one of three levels of biodiversity that requires conservation (McNeely *et al.* 1990, Frankham 2005). Populations lacking in genetic diversity are less capable of responding to demographic and environmental change than their more genetically diverse counterparts and are thus more likely to go extinct (Frankham and Ralls 1998, Soulé and Mills 1998).

At an individual level, heterozygotes in a variety of species may have increased reproductive success (Slate *et al.* 2000, Harrison *et al.* 2011, Wetzel *et al.* 2012) and survival (Coulson *et al.* 1999, Cohas *et al.* 2009, Olano-Marin *et al.* 2011). Further, low genetic diversity due to the mating of close relatives can result in decreased fitness (inbreeding depression) by unmasking deleterious recessive alleles (Tregenza and Wedell 2000). Low genetic diversity and subsequent inbreeding depression have been associated with low birth weight, decreased reproductive success, low recruitment rates, and reduced overwinter survival in birds and mammals (Keller *et al.* 1998, Keller and Waller 2002). Measuring the average relatedness of individuals within a given population, (i.e. the fraction of alleles shared among individuals that are identical by descent; Blouin 2003), can help assess the level of inbreeding occurring in that population (Ingvarsson 2001). In the absence of detailed family pedigrees, relatedness among individuals is calculated

indirectly using molecular markers (Queller and Goodnight 1989, Lynch and Ritland 1999).

### 1.2 Integrating demography and genetics to assess population declines

Predators have significant impacts on the ecology of prey populations, and this can translate into major changes in genetic diversity and relatedness (Fig1.1). Both ecological and genetic (evolutionary) effects of predators can work in tandem to affect the viability of a population, in the short and long term, respectively. As more populations become threatened with increasing numbers of invasive predators (Diamond *et al.* 1989, Salo *et al.* 2007), it has become necessary for conservation biologists to have a complete picture of their impacts. This can be accomplished by combining demography and genetics, which has rarely been done in a typical predator-prey system (Jedrzjewski *et al.* 2005, Beckerman *et al.* 2011).

To accurately diagnose the causes of population declines, it is critical to understand both the short-term (ecological) and long-term (evolutionary) risks populations face (Jamieson *et al.* 2006). Evolution and ecology are intimately connected, as demographic parameters such as births, deaths, immigration, and emigration all can impact the genetic diversity and relatedness of individuals in a population (e.g. Frankham 1996, Frankham 1997, Hatchwell 2009). Thus, while we know predators threaten prey populations in the short term by affecting population sizes, increased predation also could jeopardize future population growth and survival by affecting the genetic makeup of prey populations (Fig. 1.1).



**Figure 1.1.** The basic model upon which predictions in this thesis are based. Predation pressure is known to influence prey populations through the four basic demographic parameters: births, immigration, deaths and emigration. Changes in these four demographic parameters can, in turn, affect genetic diversity and relatedness in prey populations, whether negatively or positively. Thus, predation pressure should have effects on the genetic diversity of prey populations, and this relationship is mediated by demography.

#### 1.3 Island and mainland populations often differ ecologically and genetically

Those interested in the fitness implications of high relatedness and low genetic diversity often look to the "classic case" of island populations. Populations found on islands are often small and isolated, and may experience reduced gene flow, increasing the potential for inbreeding and genetic drift as a result (Frankham 1998, Wilson *et al.* 2009). Island populations also may be particularly susceptible to environmental stochasticity, and experience population bottlenecks (a rapid and severe decrease in population size) which may lead to genetic bottlenecks, in which rare alleles are lost from the population (Luikart and Cornuet 1998).

Generally, island populations are expected to have much lower genetic diversity, and a subsequent higher probability of extinction (Frankham 1998, Soulé and Mills 1998, Eldridge *et al.* 1999) when compared to mainland populations. Indeed, it is frequently the case that island populations are less genetically diverse than those on the mainland in a variety of species, and the hypothesis for this is that islands are isolated (Frankham 1997, Eldridge *et al.* 2004, Boessenkool *et al.* 2007, White and Searle 2007).

Island populations differ from mainland populations not only genetically, but also ecologically. Islands are often considered predator-free or predator-reduced refugia for prey species, particularly birds that may choose to breed on islands with no or few predators (Clout 2001, Boessenkool *et al.* 2007). A typical management tool involves relocating endangered species to predator-free islands in an attempt to re-establish their populations (Clout 2001, Boessenkool *et al.* 2007). The difference in predation threat between landscapes is often substantial, especially considering the effects that predators (particularly those that are introduced and invasive) may impose on the demography and viability of prey populations (Clout 2001, Jamieson *et al.* 2006, Salo *et al.* 2007, Medina *et al.* 2011).

### 1.4 The effects of predators on demography and genetic diversity

Although it is well established that predation can affect prey demography (Lima 1998, Zanette *et al.* 2006, Lima 2009), the impacts of predation on genetic diversity and relatedness have been virtually unexplored. This is especially surprising given that recent studies demonstrate how, even in the absence of direct killing, predators can have "indirect effects" on reproductive rates in prey populations (Creel *et al.* 2007, Creel and Christianson 2008, Lima 2009, Zanette *et al.* 2011). Such work on the indirect effects of predators shows that predators have a much greater impact on prey populations than previously recognized (see Preisser *et al.* 2005). Due to this dearth of research on how predation can impact genetic diversity, predictions must be made based on how predators impact demography, and how changes in demography can in turn affect population genetics. Below, I outline how predators can affect the death rate of juveniles and adults, the birth rate and population growth rate, variance in reproductive success, and dispersal. I also discuss how these changes in demography as a result of predation could contribute to alterations in relatedness and genetic diversity.

The direct killing of adults and juveniles increases the death rate of a population, which will in turn affect the population growth rate (a function of adult survival, reproduction and survival of juveniles; Zanette 2000, Smith *et al.* 2002). When adults and juveniles are removed from the population, there is a loss of not only those individuals but also of the offspring those breeding individuals would produce (or would

produce in the future, in the case of juvenile birds). The loss of these individuals could lead to growth rates that are below replacement levels, and unless immigration compensates, the population size will decline.

Declines in population size are well known to negatively affect the genetic diversity of populations (Frankham 1996, Soulé and Mills 1998). This is best exemplified when a population experiences a rapid decline in size, or population bottleneck. As a result, genetic diversity may decline rapidly as alleles are removed from the population, leading to a genetic bottleneck (Luikart *et al.* 1998). While bottlenecks are an extreme example of rapid population declines resulting in decreased genetic diversity and increased relatedness, gradual population declines can still lead to genetic erosion over time as a result of the same genetic processes (Frankham 1996). These impacts can be particularly evident if immigration does not supplement the gene pool by bringing in new alleles, frequently referred to as the genetic rescue effect (Ingvarsson 2001, Hedrick *et al.* 2011).

Predators also may negatively affect the birth rate (also called the annual reproductive success) of a prey population. In an avian context, annual reproductive success is a function of the number of eggs laid and the number of nestlings that survive to fledge (Zanette *et al.* 2006). In addition to directly preying upon nests, predators can decrease birth rates indirectly by affecting the behaviour and physiology of parents (Creel *et al.* 2007, Creel and Christianson 2008, Zanette *et al.* 2011). For example, Zanette *et al.* (2011) showed that when the threat of predation was increased experimentally *via* audio playbacks, the annual reproductive success (birth rate) of song sparrows decreased by 40%, even though predators were prevented from directly preying upon nests. This

decrease in reproductive success was a result of parents changing their nest-site locations, as well as their incubation and brood-rearing behaviour as a result of an increased threat of predation (Zanette *et al.* 2011, Allen 2012). Thus, even when predators do not consume the contents of a nest, they can still impact the outcome of that nesting attempt by inducing changes in parental behaviour.

Increased predation may not only result in fewer births overall, but also may affect the reproductive success of some breeding pairs disproportionately more than others, as a result of the non-independence of siblings, also called family effects. Family effects occur often in prey species with sessile offspring, when the survival of siblings is non-independent, and predation is one cause (Gaillard et al. 1998). For example, in a roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus*) population, the overall risk of being preyed upon by red foxes (Vulpes vulpes) was 20% (Panzacchi et al. 2009). However, if one sibling was preyed upon, the risk of predation for the remaining siblings increased to 47% (Panzacchi et al. 2009). Predation is also a likely mechanism for the non-independence of cheetah cub (Acinonyx jubatus) survival shown by Pettorelli and Durant (2007), since predation by lions (*Panthera leo*) and spotted hyenas (*Crocuta crocuta*) is the most significant cause of mortality for cheetah cubs (Laurenson 1994). Similarly, Boutin et al. (1988) found that the survival of individuals within litters of wild muskrats (Ondatra zibethicus) were non-independent and proposed predation as a likely mechanism. Thus, when offspring are dependent on their parents and are clustered together in one spot such as a nest or burrow, as is the case with altricial birds, family effects as a result of predation should be common (Ricklefs 1969, Hatchwell 2009). Only recently has there been inquiry into how

genetics may be affected by family effects and the subsequent variance in reproductive success amongst parents (Beckerman 2011).

At best, a decrease in annual reproductive success (births) would simply decrease the number of recruits into the population in the following year, as in the case of increased adult and juvenile deaths. At worst, fewer births could lead to increased relatedness of those recruits as a result of family effects that predators can have on sessile prey (Ricklefs 1969, MacDougall-Shackleton et al. 2011). Nest predation is the most important cause of reproductive failure for songbirds (Ricklefs 1969). When a predator consumes the entire contents of a given nest (eggs and/or nestlings), this represents complete failure for that breeding attempt (Ricklefs 1969, Hatchwell 2009). These family effects could lead to variance in reproductive success among breeding pairs in the population which could affect genetic diversity. If some breeding pairs fledge more offspring than others, the potential recruits may be more genetically similar to one another, having come from only a subset of breeding pairs in the population (Beckerman et al. 2011, MacDougall-Shackleton et al. 2011). This variance in reproductive success amongst breeding pairs in a population has been recently explored in a model of the cooperatively breeding long-tailed tit (Aegithalos caudatus; Beckerman et al. 2011). When predation led to clustered mortality (simulating family effects), there were fewer nests in the population contributing recruits, and relatedness of the recruits (and thus the population) increased when the number of successful nests declined (Beckerman et al. 2011). However, outside of this modeling, the genetic impacts of family effects are unexplored.

The effects of predation pressure on immigration and emigration are less predictable than the effects on death and birth rates, with examples in the literature of high predation both increasing and decreasing dispersal. Predators can inhibit immigration of both avian and mammalian prey species into an area (reviewed in Lima 1998). Suhonen *et al.* (1994) showed that the density of breeding birds was significantly higher in areas far from a European kestrel (*Falco tinnunculus*) nest than in areas with kestrels breeding nearby, suggesting that prey were avoiding the site due to the presence of predators. Similarly, when predatory American mink (*Mustela vison*) were removed from islands in Finland, both the species richness and abundance of breeding birds increased significantly compared to control islands which still had mink (Nordström and Korpimäki 2004).

The opposite effect of predators on immigration was found in a study on two populations of grey wolves (*Canis lupis*) in Eastern Europe which differed in the level of "predation" pressure from human hunters (Jedrzjewski *et al.* 2005). The population that experienced intense hunting had significantly higher amounts of dispersal between packs since an opening was created each time an individual was killed that allowed for immigration into the pack (Jedrzjewski *et al.* 2005). Conversely, the population that was less heavily hunted had much more stable packs, and thus fewer opportunities for immigrants to move in (Jedrzjewski *et al.* 2005).

Just as prey species have been shown to immigrate into areas after the removal of predators, studies have found that prey will also emigrate from sites where predator pressure is high (reviewed in Lima 1998). Breeding dispersal, the dispersal of individuals between breeding seasons or between breeding attempts within a season, may

also occur as a result of predation pressure (reviewed in Lima 2009). For example, burrowing owls (*Athene cunicularia*) had not only a higher probability of dispersal after their nests were experimentally preyed upon, but also dispersed great distances from their previous nest-site location: up to 13 km, with a mean dispersal distance of approximately 3 km (Catlin and Rosenberg 2008). Northern flickers (*Colaptes auratus*) who experienced nest predation also dispersed significantly farther than those whose nests did not fail (Fisher and Wiebe 2006).

Increased dispersal can increase genetic diversity and decrease relatedness amongst individuals by enhancing gene flow among populations, with unrelated immigrants potentially bringing new alleles into the population (Frankham 1997, Hedrick *et al.* 2011). Ludwig and Becker (2012) found that mated pairs of common terns (*Sterna hirundo*) were less related to each other than expected, indicating low rates of inbreeding, though they did not exhibit inbreeding avoidance. This lack of inbreeding was attributed to high numbers of unrelated immigrants entering the colony (Ludwig and Becker 2012). Dispersal is discussed in great detail in the context of conservation genetics of islands. For example, the inbreeding reported in song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) on Mandarte Island, a Gulf Island near Victoria, B.C., has been attributed to a lack of immigration into the population (approximately one immigrant each year over a twenty-year period; Keller *et al.* 1994). The importance of dispersal in decreasing the relatedness of individuals, maintaining genetic diversity, and saving populations on the brink of extinction (genetic rescue) is well-documented (Ingvarsson 2001, Hedrick *et al.* 2011).

Thus, although the effects of predation on demography (deaths, births, and dispersal) are well-known, the ways in which these demographic changes in turn affect

genetic diversity and relatedness have not been considered in great detail. However, if we are to effectively protect species from threats such as invasive predators, it is important to consider both the short-term (ecological) and long-term (genetic) effects of increased predation (Jamieson *et al.* 2006). While it is possible to make predictions of the effects of predators on demography, and in turn the effects of demography on genetic diversity, there is little research that considers the impact that predators may have on the genetics of prey populations.

A thorough search of the literature turned up two studies that investigated the genetic effects of predation on prey populations (Jedrzjewski et al. 2005 and Beckerman et al. 2011). In the former case, human hunters were the predators, and intense hunting caused increased genetic diversity as a result of increased immigration into packs (Jedrzjewski et al. 2005). In the latter study, the timing of predation events (i.e. whether individuals were taken as nestlings or fledglings) had significant impacts on the genetic relatedness of the population (Beckerman et al. 2011). The system in which Jedrzjewski et al. (2005) worked is not a typical predator-prey system, since humans were the predators, and the unique social structure of grey wolves was a major factor in influencing genetic diversity as a predation event left an "opening" for an immigrant to fill in the pack (Jedrzjewski et al. 2005). In the case of Beckerman et al. (2011), their study consisted of a series of simulations, which were parameterized using data from a long-term dataset. Given the lack of empirical research on the topic, it is crucial that we learn more about the effects that predators may be having on prey populations, as we may be missing a huge part of the picture by considering only the direct ecological effects.

### 1.5 Study species and system

The song sparrow is a small passerine (approximately 23 g), that is common across Canada, the United States, and Central Mexico (Arcese *et al.* 2002). The populations under study in this thesis are resident (Zanette *et al.* 2006), like most on the West Coast of North America, though populations found elsewhere are at least partially migratory (Arcese *et al.* 2002). Song sparrows are mainly insectivorous, and tend to inhabit forested, shrubby and riparian areas (Arcese *et al.* 2002). They are a sexually monomorphic species, and socially monogamous, with extra-pair paternity rates in a song sparrow population inhabiting nearby Mandarte Island estimated at approximately 28% of chicks (Sardell *et al.* 2010).

Males establish territories and court females early in the spring, and pairs defend territories together over the entire breeding season, which typically starts in late March and ends in late July (Zanette *et al.* 2006). Females will build open-cup nests in low-lying vegetation, and lay one egg per day until completion of the clutch (generally 2-5 eggs; Arcese *et al.* 2002). A typical nesting cycle is 25 days, with 13 days of incubation and 12 days of brood-rearing, though the altricial nature of young requires parents to continue to provision fledglings for another two to three weeks post-fledging (Arcese *et al.* 2002). Song sparrows are multi-brooded, and in my study area they typically produce three successful nests in a single breeding season, re-nesting up to eight times per season if they experience nest failure (Arcese *et al.* 2002, Zanette *et al.* 2006).

I studied song sparrows inhabiting six islands within the Gulf Islands National Park, B.C, as well as inhabiting two conservation areas on the Vancouver Island "mainland". This island-mainland system is well-studied, and ideal for investigating effects of predation on genetic diversity and genetic similarity. Study locations within the island and mainland landscapes are roughly similar in size (< 200 ha), and do not differ in the breeding density of song sparrows (Clinchy *et al.* 2004). The rate of extrapair paternity is also similar between landscapes (Clinchy *et al.* 2004). However, there are important ecological differences between the landscapes. The study locations on the mainland are surrounded by urban development, whereas the island landscape is rural (MacDougall-Shackleton *et al.* 2011). There are greater numbers of predators on the mainland – over a three year period, Zanette *et al.* (2006) observed roughly twice as many diurnal predators on the mainland than the islands, and more song sparrow nests failed as a result of predation on the mainland.

Recently, MacDougall-Shackleton *et al.* (2011) examined patterns of genetic diversity between the island and mainland landscapes, and found that song sparrows inhabiting sites on the mainland have lower heterozygosity than those inhabiting the islands. Genetic similarity amongst song sparrows was also higher on the mainland compared to the islands, though there were no apparent differences in genetic structuring and dispersal between the two landscapes (MacDougall-Shackleton *et al.* 2011). The results of MacDougall-Shackleton et al. (2011) suggest that differences in genetic diversity and genetic similarity observed may be due to differences in demographic processes operating within each landscape, such as the level of predation pressure the song sparrows experience (MacDougall-Shackleton *et al.* 2011).

### 1.6 Research objectives and hypotheses

The goal of my thesis was to combine ecology and genetics to test the hypothesis that predation pressure can affect the genetic diversity and relatedness of prev populations through impacts on prey demography. My first objective was to assess the hierarchical genetic structure of song sparrows at my study sites in British Columbia. Once the genetic structure was clearly defined, my second objective was to measure genetic diversity and relatedness, and to compare the two measures between landscapes and amongst populations. I predicted that song sparrows inhabiting the island landscape would have higher genetic diversity and lower genetic similarity than those on the mainland. While this prediction seems counterintuitive given that the majority of islandmainland comparisons of genetic diversity find higher genetic diversity in mainland populations, previous work in this system found higher genetic diversity and lower genetic similarity of sparrows on the islands compared to those on the mainland (MacDougall-Shackleton et al. 2011). To estimate predation pressure, my third objective was to measure and compare daily nest survival rates and adult survival between landscapes and populations. I predicted that the island landscape would have lower rates of nest predation compared to the mainland based on previous work in this system (Clinchy et al. 2004, Zanette et al. 2006), as well as higher adult survival. I predicted the same patterns when comparing between populations within each landscape, i.e. that the population with lower nest predation will have higher genetic diversity and lower genetic similarity. Finally, my fourth objective was to assess the various demographic mechanisms through which predators may influence genetic diversity and relatedness in prey populations, including dispersal, birth rates, population growth rates, and variance in reproductive success. I predicted that the birth rate and variance in reproductive success of sparrows would be important mechanisms driving patterns in genetic diversity. Specifically, for each comparison, sparrows inhabiting the landscape or population with lower predation would have higher reproductive rates and lower variance in reproductive success (Beckerman *et al.* 2011, MacDougall-Shackleton *et al.* 2011). The collective information gleaned from carrying out each of these objectives will provide population ecologists and conservation biologists with a more complete picture of the effects predators may have on prey populations, by incorporating genetic as well as demographic impacts.

#### **Chapter 2: Methods**

### 2.1 Study locations and general methods

Field work was conducted by various members of the Zanette/Clinchy lab from 2000 to 2007. The sampling for the current study was done in a hierarchical manner, at two spatial scales – landscape and populations within each landscape. The two landscapes were the Vancouver Island "mainland", and multiple Southern Gulf Islands, which are small coastal islands located in the Strait of Georgia, < 2 km offshore. Smaller sampling sites (< 200 ha each) were nested within each landscape and include Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake Conservation Areas on the mainland, and Brackman, Portland, Rum, Russell and Tortoise Islands, and the Pellow Islets within the Gulf Islands (Fig. 2.1).

### 2.2. Genotyping

Blood samples were collected from every nestling hatched in each territory that was monitored, and from every adult that was caught by mist-netting or potter trapping. A small blood sample ( $< 25\mu$ L) was taken from the brachial vein, and stored long-term at  $-20^{\circ}$ C. The individuals chosen for genotyping included only those nestlings that were known to have bred in subsequent years (i.e. were successful recruits). In total, I genotyped 334 song sparrows (Table 2.1), out of approximately 530 birds from which blood samples were taken.

Landscape	Sampling Site	Ν	
Island	Brackman Island	17	
Island	Pellow Islets	12	
Island	Portland Island	115	
Island	Rum Island	7	
Island	Russell Island	15	
Island	Tortoise Island	22	
Mainland	Rithet's Bog	126	
Mainland	Swan Lake	20	

**Table 2.1.** Number of song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) genotypedfrom each sampling location. In total, 334 sparrows were genotyped,188 from the island landscape, and 146 from the mainland landscape.



**Figure 2.1**. Map of locations at which song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) were caught and sampled outlining the a) landscape scale (islands in top two circles, mainland sites in bottom circle), b) the six islands at the smaller "site" scale and c) the two mainland locations at the population scale.

Genomic DNA was extracted using a protocol adapted from Laitinen et al. (1994). I genotyped each song sparrow at 17 hypervariable microsatellite loci (Table 2.2): Escu 1 (Hanotte et al. 1994), Mme 1, Mme 2, Mme 7 and Mme 12 (Jeffery et al. 2001), Pdou 5 (Griffith et al. 1999), Sosp 3 (L. Keller, Pers. Comm. to E. A. MacDougall-Shackleton), Sosp 1, Sosp 2, Sosp 4, Sosp 5, Sosp 7, Sosp 9, Sosp 13, and Sosp 14 (Sardell et al. 2010), and Zole CO2 and Zole BO3 (Poesel et al. 2009). One primer at each locus (either reverse or forward) was dye-labeled, and microsatellites were amplified using polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Each PCR was conducted in a total volume of 10 µl and included the following: 10 mM of Tris-HCl, 50 mM of KCl, 0.1% Triton X-100, 0.2 mg/ml of BSA, 2.5 mM of MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.2 mM of each dNTP, 0.1 - 0.4 mM of each primer, 0.5 U of Taq polymerase (Fisher Scientific GoTaq) and 20 - 100 ng of genomic DNA. Cycling conditions included an initial step of 180 seconds at 94°C, followed by 29 cycles of 30 seconds at 94°C, 90 seconds at the annealing temperature (Table 2.2), and 60 seconds at  $72^{\circ}$ C, ending with a final step of 270 seconds at  $72^{\circ}$ C. The PCR products were analyzed on an Applied Biosystems 3130 Genetic Analyzer according to the manufacturer's protocols, and alleles scored manually, with reference to an internal size standard.
Primer	Marker Repeat	$T_a$ (°C)	Reference
Escµ 1	(CA) <sub>18</sub>	48-51*	Hanotte et al. 1994
Mme 1	(TG)7 TC (TG)15	57	Jeffery et al. 2001
Mme 2	(TG) <sub>30</sub>	48-51*	Jeffery et al. 2001
Mme 7	$(CA)_2TA(CA)_{18}$	48-51*	Jeffery et al. 2001
Mme 12	(CCCACA) <sub>13</sub>	57	Jeffery et al. 2001
Pdoµ 5	(CA)	57	Griffith et al. 1999
Sosp 1	(GGAT) <sub>17</sub> GCAT (GGAT) <sub>2</sub>	55	Sardell et al. 2010
Sosp 2	$(CTGT)_6 (GT)_3$	57	Sardell et al. 2010
Sosp 3	Unpublished	57	L. Keller, Pers. Comm. to E. A. M-S†
Sosp 4	(TGTC) <sub>6</sub>	57	Sardell et al. 2010
Sosp 5	(GACA) <sub>2</sub> GACT (GACA) <sub>8</sub>	55	Sardell et al. 2010
Sosp 7	(GACA) <sub>8</sub>	55	Sardell et al. 2010
Sosp 9	(GACA) <sub>6</sub>	57	Sardell et al. 2010
Sosp 13	(GATA) <sub>13</sub>	57	Sardell et al. 2010
Sosp 14	(CTAT) <sub>16</sub>	57	Sardell et al. 2010
Zole B03	AGAT <sub>14</sub>	57	Poesel et al. 2009
Zole C02	ATCC <sub>10</sub>	57	Poesel et al. 2009

**Table 2.2**. Seventeen microsatellite primers used for genotyping song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*).  $T_a$  is the annealing temperature used in PCR.

\*Notes: Escµ 1, Mme 2, and Mme 7 were amplified in a touchdown reaction, with annealing temperatures dropping from 51°C to 48°C. †E. A. M-S is E. A. MacDougall-Shackleton.

# 2.3 Testing assumptions

For each site (two mainland, six islands) I tested all 17 loci for deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium and from linkage equilibrium with Genepop on the Web (Raymond and Rousset 1995), using the Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. I also tested for the presence of non-amplifying (null) alleles, using three different methods. First, I used IR Macro N4 (Amos *et al.* 2001) to estimate null allele frequencies, making note of those loci with null frequencies greater than 0.1 (10%). Next, I used the Brookfield estimator in the program Micro-Checker (van Oosterhout *et al.* 2004) to identify null alleles. Lastly, I used Dempster's Expectation Maximum (EM; Dempster *et al.*1977) method implemented in Genepop on the Web (Raymond and Rousset 1995) to give a third estimate of null allele frequencies at each locus. If a locus was found to have a null allele frequency of 0.1 or greater in at least two of the three methods used, it was removed from further analyses in an effort to be conservative and avoid inflated homozygote frequencies.

I found evidence of null (non-amplifying) alleles in four of 17 loci, and all three measures that I used were mainly in agreement. IRmacroN4 detected null alleles at a frequency greater than 0.1 (10%) at four loci: Mme 12 (at a frequency of 0.6), Sosp 4 (0.1), Sosp 9 (0.45) and Zole B03 (0.14). Genepop detected the same four loci as IRmacroN4 as having a null frequency greater than 0.1. Microchecker also identified Mme 12, Sosp 9 and Zole B03 as having a null frequency greater than 0.1, and also identified another possible locus with null alleles present: Sosp 5 (0.14). As a result, four loci were removed from further analyses: Mme 12, Sosp 4, Sosp 9 and Zole B03. In the

interest of maximizing the number of loci used, and since only one out of three methods identified it as having null alleles, Sosp 5 was not removed.

I found that with a few exceptions, all of the remaining 13 loci were in Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium in each location. Amongst the six island sites from which sparrows were sampled, all loci were in Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE) after correction for multiple tests except Pdou 5, Sosp 14 and Sosp 5 in Portland Island, which exhibited a heterozygote deficit. Among mainland sites, a total of four loci showed a heterozygote deficit in Rithet's Bog: Mme 2, Pdou 5, Sosp 14, and Zole C02, whereas only one locus had a deficit in heterozygotes in Swan Lake (Mme 2). If such deficits were due to null alleles or other genotyping issues, they would be expected to occur disproportionately at one locus, which is not the case here. In addition, all genetic analyses that assume HWE were conducted with and without the four loci exhibiting heterozygote deficits (Pdou 5, Sosp 14, Sosp 5, and Mme 2), and all results were qualitatively similar. Standardized heterozygosity of individuals calculated with all 13 loci was strongly correlated with that calculated using only the 9 loci conforming to HWE (Spearman's rank correlation, r = 0.847, n = 334, p < 0.001). The average relatedness (genetic similarity, r) of each individual to every other individual in the same population was also calculated with all 13 loci, as well as with only the 9 loci conforming to HWE, and these were also significantly correlated (Spearman's rank correlation, r =0.512, n = 334, p < 0.001). Thus, the 4 loci in question were not removed, and all further results are based on a dataset of 13 loci.

At both the island and mainland sites, there was evidence of linkage disequilibrium after correction for multiple tests (78 comparisons, at each population,  $\alpha$  =

0.05/78), suggesting non-independence between genotypes at the loci concerned. Portland Island had 16 pairs of loci in linkage disequilibrium (Mme 1 and Mme 2, Mme 7 and Pdou 5, Mme 7 and Sosp 1, Escu 1 and Sosp 13, Sosp 1 and Sosp 13, Escu 1 and Sosp 3, Sosp 13 and Sosp 3, Sosp 2 and Sosp 3, Sosp 14 and Sosp 5, Sosp 3 and Sosp 5, Escu 1 and Sosp 7, Sosp 5 and Sosp 7, Mme 2 and Zole CO2, Sosp 1 and Zole CO2, Sosp 14 and Zole CO2, and Sosp 3 and Zole CO2). No other islands showed evidence of linkage disequilibrium among loci. On the mainland, Rithet's Bog showed evidence of linkage disequilibrium among seven pairs of loci (Mme 1 and Sosp 13, Sosp 1 and Sosp 13, Mme 2 and Sosp 5, Sosp 1 and Sosp 7, Sosp 3 and Sosp 7, Sosp 5 and Sosp 7, Sosp 7 and Zole CO2), whereas Swan Lake showed only one (Mme 1 and Mme 2). When the four loci which showed deviations from HWE equilibrium were removed, only four pairs of loci remained in linkage disequilibrium at Rithet's Bog, and three at Portland Island. As described above, all results based on a dataset of 9 loci were qualitatively similar to those based on 13 loci, and thus no loci were removed from further analyses.

# 2.4 Genetic structure

To determine if each of my sampling sites were indeed genetically distinct landscapes (island and mainland) and populations (sites within each landscape), I used a variety of methods to determine genetic population structure. Firstly, I used hierarchical Analysis of Molecular Variance (AMOVA) in the Hierfstat package (Goudet 2005) in R (R Core Development Team 2009) to examine the population differentiation at each level of comparison. I compared between landscapes (island *versus* mainland) and amongst sites within the islands and within the mainland. Finally, to look at possible structure

below the population level, I compared amongst possible "subpopulations" within two of the sites – Portland Island (six possible subpopulations) and Rithet's Bog (five possible subpopulations). AMOVA determines whether genetic structure exists at each level. Since there are eight sites in total (two mainland and six islands), to establish which particular sites (at each landscape) differ in terms of genic and genotypic variation, I used pair-wise Exact G-Tests implemented in Genepop on the Web (Raymond and Rousset 1995) while applying the Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. Tests of genic differentiation consider whether two genotypes share one allele or not, whereas tests of genotypic differentiation consider whether or not two genotypes are identical (Goudet et al. 1996). Tests of genotypic differentiation may be less powerful than tests of genic differentiation, though tests of genotypic differentiation may be more appropriate when there are deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (Goudet et al. 1996), and thus I present the results of both tests below. Markov chain parameters consisted of a dememorization number of 1000, 100 batches, and 1000 iterations per batch. To complement these genetic methods, I also consulted long-term ecological records for each population to look at rates of natal and breeding dispersal amongst the islands.

Amongst the island sites (the only comparison with more than two locations), I tested for isolation by distance (IBD), to investigate whether genetic differentiation amongst sparrows increased with increasing island distance. I used the Mantel test implemented by the Isolde program in Genepop on the Web (Raymond and Rousset 1995). Geographic distances were calculated using the Capital Regional Atlas (http://crdatlas.ca/) as the "least distance" measure from nearest coast to nearest coast, though results were qualitatively similar when measured from the midpoint of each

location. I used Rousset's measure of genetic distance (Fst/[1-Fst]), and the analysis was run with 1000 permutations. Testing for isolation by distance was not appropriate for the other comparisons (between landscapes, and between mainland sites) as there were only two sites in each comparison.

Lastly, to further investigate genetic structuring at each level, I used Bayesian clustering analysis in STRUCTURE 2.3.3 (Falush et al. 2003) and subsequent analysis using the Evanno et al. (2005) method implemented in Structure Harvester (Earl 2011) to estimate the number of genetic clusters (K) at each level of comparison (landscape, and sites within each landscape). Analysis in STRUCTURE is complementary but different from tests of genetic differentiation in that in addition to estimating the number of genetic clusters, it also assigns individuals to genetic clusters based on their multilocus genotypes (Pritchard *et al.* 2000). I used the prior probability model, with sampling location as each individual's putative population information. I allowed for admixture analysis in which individuals could be assigned to more than one genetic cluster. STRUCTURE was run from K = 1 to the maximum number of geographically described populations plus one (for example, for island vs. mainland, I ran K = 1 to K = 3). Each run had a 300,000 iteration burnin period and a 500,000 iteration run length. There were three runs for each value of K, and the posterior probability for each K was averaged across the three runs. It should be noted that the Evanno et al. (2005) method for estimating K may overestimate the number of clusters, in that it is impossible to find K = 1 using this method. However, this method proved more reliable for my data than using the method described by Falush et al. (2003), which calculates the posterior probability for each value of K using lnlikelihood scores.

After examining all results of tests of genetic structure and determining that there are genetically distinct populations within each landscape, I was able to define sites as true genetic populations. As a result, I refer to "sites" within landscapes as populations hereafter.

## 2.5 Measuring and comparing genetic diversity and genetic similarity (relatedness)

After defining the populations in my study system, I could then compare genetic diversity amongst them. Standardized heterozygosity (hereafter SH, defined as the proportion of heterozygous loci weighted by mean heterozygosity at each locus; Coltman *et al.* 1999) values were calculated for each individual sparrow using the Rhh package (Alho *et al.* 2010) in R (R Core Development Team 2009). Mean SH values were then calculated for the island and mainland, as well as each population within each region. I used SH rather than unadjusted heterozygosity because one locus (Mme7; Jeffery *et al.* 2001) is Z-linked, so it is uninformative about female genetic diversity as females will only have one allele at that locus, being scored as a homozygote.

SH measures the genetic diversity of individuals. I also estimated the genetic diversity of populations by calculating allelic richness (hereafter AR) using the program HP-RARE (Kalinowski 2005), correcting for differences in sample sizes using hierarchical rarefaction, also in HP-RARE (Kalinowski 2005). Rarefaction involves calculating the expected allelic richness of a sample taken from each population if g alleles had been sampled, with g being equal to the smallest number of genotypes for any loci from any of the sampled populations (Wilson *et al.* 2009). Hierarchical rarefaction works on the same principle, in that it allows for comparison between regions with

different numbers of populations by calculating the expected AR of a region if *Sk* populations have been sampled in each region, where *Sk* is the fewest number of populations sampled in any region (Kalinowski 2004, Wilson *et al.* 2009). I applied rarefaction to the minimal size of 10 genes, with two populations at each landscape.

To compare SH values, I used non parametric tests because SH values were not normally distributed. Mann-Whitney U-tests were used to compare SH between the islands and the mainland, and between the two mainland populations, Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake. To compare amongst the island populations (Portland Island, Rum Island, and Russell Island), a Kruskal-Wallis Test was performed, with a post-hoc test of all pairwise comparisons that tests the null hypothesis that the distributions are the same. I tested for significant differences in AR between the two landscapes, between the two mainland populations, and amongst the three island populations using sign tests across loci (Kalinowski 2004). All comparisons of SH, as well as in AR were conducted in PASW (Version 18.0, SPSS Inc. 2009).

For each pair of individuals located in the same population, I calculated Lynch and Ritland's (1999) coefficient of genetic similarity, (*r*), hereafter referred to as relatedness, in Mark (Ritland 2008; http://genetics.forestry.ubc.ca/ritland/programs.html). For landscape averages, individual comparisons were kept in population groupings but pooled by landscape. I compared relatedness between landscapes, and between mainland populations with Mann-Whitney U-tests, and amongst island populations with a Kruskal-Wallis test. Since calculating pairwise comparisons of all individuals within a population results in inflated sample sizes, I tested the significance of each comparison with permutation tests that were iterated 1000 times each. All comparisons of relatedness, including permutations, were conducted in R (R Core Development Team 2009). I also conducted Spearman's rank correlations to compare the mean SH and mean relatedness value of each population (n = 5).

#### 2.6 Measuring and comparing predation pressure

To examine the relationship between predation pressure, genetic diversity and relatedness, I estimated predation pressure two ways. The first measure of predation pressure I considered was nest predation, as predators are the single most significant source of nest failure in songbirds (Ricklefs 1969). I calculated the daily survival rates (DSRs) of nests, the probability that a given nest will survive a single day, using the Bart and Robson (1982) maximum likelihood method implemented in Ecological Methodology version 5.2 (Krebs 1999), as nests were often visited at irregular intervals. Song sparrow nests, once found, were checked every two to four days and recorded as active, failed or fledged. Once a song sparrow territory was found, it was monitored for the entire breeding season, and every effort was made to find each nesting attempt. In compiling the data, a nest was considered successful if at least one nestling successfully fledged from the nest, regardless of the original number of eggs laid. Nest predation rates (as the inverse DSRs) were calculated yearly for the islands and the mainland as regions, and also for each population within each landscape. To compare DSRs, I performed a Chi-square test in the program CONTRAST (Sauer and Hines 1989, using methods described by Sauer and Williams 1989) for each of the following: islands versus mainland, amongst island populations, and between mainland populations, using each year within each population as a data point.

The second measure of predation pressure I considered was apparent survival of adults at each landscape, and within each population. I estimated survival of adults over the 22-week breeding season using the Kaplan-Meier method (Pollock *et al.* 1989) implemented in Ecological Methodology version 5.2 (Krebs 1999), right-censoring the data at the end of the breeding season (at which point intensive monitoring of the song sparrows ceases). To estimate overwinter survival, I divided the number of banded adults alive at the beginning of the breeding season in year t + I by the number alive at the end of the breeding survival and overwinter survival, and estimated the sampling variance for annual survival probabilities (S<sup>2</sup><sub>BW</sub>, where B represents the survival probability during the breeding season and W the survival probability for the overwinter period) by summing the variance of each random variable (after Zanette 2000),

$$S^{2}_{BW} = S^{2}_{B} \times S^{2}_{W} + S^{2}_{B} \times W^{2} + S^{2}_{W} \times B^{2}$$

and the standard error was calculated by taking the square-root of the variance. To compare adult survival, a Chi-square test was carried out in the program CONTRAST (Sauer and Hines 1989, using methods described by Sauer and Williams 1989) for each of the following: islands versus mainland, among island populations, and between mainland populations. Adult survival for Russell Island is not included in statistical analyses in the main body of this thesis, as estimates are based on only one breeding season and one over-winter period, and thus there is no SE. See Appendix B for analyses including Russell Island.

## 2.7 Assessing potential mechanisms driving patterns in genetic diversity

One potential mechanism driving patterns in genetic diversity is the amount of gene flow a region or population may experience. Gene flow is expected to be particularly important when considering island populations, which may be expected to be more isolated than mainland populations (Frankham 1997). I measured contemporary dispersal rates amongst the sampling locations with assignment tests implemented in Geneclass 2.0.h (Piry *et al.* 2004) to estimate the likelihood of each individual's genotype originating from the landscape or population from which it was sampled (L\_Home; Piry *et al.* 2004), using the criteria of Paetkau *et al.* (1995). I used the method of Paetkau *et al.* (2004) to conduct Monte-Carlo resampling of 1000 simulated individuals, and a detection probability of  $\alpha = 0.01$  to identify first-generation immigrants. Paetkau *et al.* (2004) recommend using a detection probability of  $\alpha = 0.01$  versus 0.05 due to the high likelihood of type I error (falsely flagging an individual as an immigrant) at  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

Another potential mechanism driving patterns in genetic diversity is the size and growth rate of the population. I tested each landscape and population for evidence of a recent genetic bottleneck. I used the program BOTTLENECK 1.2.02 (Cornuet and Luikart 1996) to test for an excess in heterozygosity relative to the predicted heterozygosity based on the number of observed alleles. I used the two-phase mutation (TPM) model recommended for microsatellite markers (Di Rienzo *et al.* 1994) to generate distributions expected under mutation-drift equilibrium, with default settings of 30% multi-step mutations and 1000 replications. For each landscape and population, I used the Wilcoxon's Matched Pairs Test, which is robust when there are fewer than 20 polymorphic loci (Piry *et al.* 1999), to test for heterozygosity excess, as well as the allele

frequency mode shift method, which looks for the distortion in the distribution of allele frequencies that is characteristic of recent bottlenecks (Luikart *et al.* 1998).

Simply assessing population growth rates based on absolute numbers from year to year is not possible in my study locations, due to differences in the area (and thus number of breeding territories) under observation amongst locations, as well as between years. Thus I estimated lambda ( $\lambda$ ; the finite rate of increase) in lieu of assessing population census data. Lambda values combine the birth rate and survival rate of a population together and indicates whether a population is declining ( $\lambda < 1$ ), stable ( $\lambda = 1$ ) or increasing ( $\lambda > 1$ ). First, I calculated the birth rate in each year as the average per capita number of offspring fledged by each female at each landscape and each population. I also estimated lambda for each landscape and population in each year using the formula

$$\lambda = S_a + (N_t \times S_t)$$

where  $S_a$  is the estimated annual survival of adults,  $N_t$  is the per capita rate of reproduction (the number of offspring produced in a year), and  $S_t$  is the survival of fledglings from leaving the nest to breeding age (1 year; Smith *et al.* 2002). Sparrows that fledged from the nest were not tracked as juveniles; however an estimate from nearby Mandarte Island was used as an approximation (Smith *et al.* 2002). Since per capita rates of reproduction (and therefore lambda) can be influenced not only by predation pressure, but also by the number of eggs initially laid by individual females within a breeding season, I also measured the average total egg production per year of females at each landscape and population. This measurement was used to ensure that females at each landscape and population were all capable of producing the same number of eggs on average in a given breeding season, and thus any differences in per capita rates of reproduction and lambda values could more confidently be attributed to nest predation. Within each breeding season, I multiplied the mean clutch size of females with the mean number of clutches laid at each landscape and population (as song sparrows can re-nest multiple times), to get an estimate of total egg production. I tested for significant differences in per capita rates of reproduction, lambda values and total egg production between the island and mainland landscapes, between the two mainland populations, and between Rum and Portland Islands. I used a t-test to compare total egg production, however, per capita rates of reproduction and lambda were not normally distributed, and so I used Mann-Whitney U-tests in PASW (Version 18.0, SPSS Inc. 2009). Analyses including Russell Island are shown in Appendix B.

I also considered variance in reproductive success (or reproductive skew) as a mechanism by which predators could be affecting genetic diversity and relatedness. This is an extension of the previous idea that relative rates in predation reduce recruitment into the population, though in this case some breeding pairs experience failure more often than others. If predators can cause variance in reproductive success by consuming the entire contents of one nest while another is left intact, I would expect that breeding pairs at locations with high predation pressure would have more nests that fail completely. I examined the demographic records compiled for the years 2000 to 2007 to calculate the proportion of females that successfully fledged at least one offspring in each year at each landscape and population, to see if some pairs were continually experiencing reproductive failure, which could lead to variance in reproductive success.

Using the same demographic data, I also calculated the coefficient of variation (CV) of the number of offspring fledged in each year at each landscape and population.

To calculate the CV, I first calculated the mean number of offspring fledged, as well as the standard deviation. Dividing the standard deviation by the mean to calculate the CV allowed me to compare the variance in reproductive success between two locations while controlling for differences in mean values. For CV, I compared between the islands and mainland, between the two mainland populations, and between Rum and Portland Islands with t-tests in PASW (Version 18.0, SPSS Inc. 2009). For proportion of successful females, data were not normally distributed, so comparisons were made using Mann-Whitney U-tests in PASW (Version 18.0, SPSS Inc. 2009). Results of island analyses including Russell Island are shown in Appendix B.

# 2.8 Correlating standardized heterozygosity and relatedness with demographic mechanisms

To better understand the mechanisms driving patterns in SH and relatedness, I conducted a series of Spearman's rank correlations between SH for each population (Portland Island, Rum Island, Rithet's Bog, and Swan Lake) and each of the following variables: DSRs, per capita rates of reproduction, lambda, the proportion of successful females, the coefficient of variation for the number of offspring fledged, and adult survival during the breeding season. I then did the same for relatedness. Russell Island was not included in these analyses, but see Appendix B for results including Russell Island. Standardized heterozygosity did not vary over years for any population (Kruskal-Wallis tests, p > 0.6 for all populations). However, relatedness (genetic similarity) did change significantly (or nearly significantly) over years for Rithet's Bog (Kruskal-Wallis H = 161.5, df = 7, p < 0.001), Swan Lake (H = 20.3, df = 2, p < 0.001), Portland Island

(H = 121.9, df = 7, p < 0.001, and Rum Island (H = 3.2, df = 1, p = 0.075). As a result, I also conducted a Spearman's rank correlation between relatedness and each of the demographic mechanisms, this time separating each year for each population. The data used for this correlation were lagged, such that relatedness value for a given year was paired with the demographic measure of the previous year, based on the expectation that the relatedness in a given year would be affected by the demography of the year before (following Beckerman *et al.* 2011).

Finally, I conducted Spearman's rank correlations between DSRs and the other demographic mechanisms (per capita rates of reproduction, lambda, the proportion of successful females and the coefficient of variation for the number of offspring fledged). Since only demographic mechanisms were considered here, each data point represented a year for a given population (Portland Island, Rum Island, Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake). Data were not lagged as in the previous example, as the DSRs would be expected to affect the other measures within the same year (i.e. the DSRs of year t should influence the per capita rate of reproduction in year t). For each set of correlations, I applied the Bonferroni method to correct for multiple tests.

#### **Chapter 3: Results**

#### 3.1 Genetic structure

I found consistent evidence that the islands were genetically distinct from the mainland at a landscape scale (AMOVA,  $F_{ST}$  of landscape/total = 0.006, p = 0.045). Bayesian clustering analysis supported the results of the AMOVA and showed two genetic clusters (K = 2) corresponding perfectly with sampling location (Fig. 3.1a). The ecological (banding) data provided further support for this result: of the 125 recruits recorded over 8 years, none were observed to have dispersed between the island and mainland landscapes.

I also found unequivocal evidence that within the mainland, the two sites (Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake) represented two genetically distinct populations (AMOVA,  $F_{ST}$  of population/landscape = 0.006, p = 0.001). While AMOVA analyzes the populations in each landscape separately, the results do not indicate which populations are differentiated from each other, or even at which landscape the differences occur, requiring further analysis by way of an exact G-test, which confirmed that Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake were genetically distinct from each other (p < 0.001). Bayesian clustering analysis supported the results showing two genetic clusters (K = 2). However, Fig. 3.1b indicates that contrary to the island *vs.* mainland comparison, in which individuals from different sampling locations also belonged to different genetic clusters, though the membership of birds caught at Swan Lake was skewed toward one cluster. As in the case of the landscape scale, the ecological (band recovery) data also support the finding that Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake are genetically distinct populations. Of the 73 recruits

recorded on the mainland since 2000, there is no recorded dispersal event between the two mainland locations.

The evidence for genetic differentiation amongst the island sites was somewhat inconsistent. The AMOVA found that there was significant genetic differentiation amongst populations, ( $F_{ST}$  of population/landscape = 0.006, p = 0.001). Examining pairs of islands, I found significant genic differentiation for all except Brackman Island vs. Tortoise Island (Exact G-test, p = 0.008,  $\alpha = 0.003$ ) and the Pellow Islets vs. Tortoise Island (Exact G-test, p = 0.034,  $\alpha = 0.003$ ; Fig. 3.2a). All pairs of islands had significantly different genotypic differentiation except for the Pellow Islets vs. Portland Island (Exact G-test, p = 0.004,  $\alpha = 0.003$ ), Brackman vs. Portland Islands (Exact G-test, p = 0.007,  $\alpha = 0.003$ ), Brackman vs. Tortoise Islands (Exact G-test, p = 0.018,  $\alpha = 0.003$ ), and Pellow Islets vs. Tortoise Island (Exact G-test, p = 0.073,  $\alpha = 0.003$ ; Fig. 3.2b). I found significant isolation by distance (hereafter IBD) when all six island locations were included (Mantel test, one-sided p = 0.002). However, when I removed the two most distant islands from the analysis (i.e. Rum and Russell Islands, approximately 3 and 10 km from Portland, respectively vs. islands less than 1 km from away from Portland; Fig. 3b) evidence of IBD was eliminated (one-sided p = 0.35). Bayesian clustering analysis generally supported the results of the AMOVA and pairwise G-tests. Amongst islands, I found two different genetic clusters (K = 2), with individuals sampled at the Pellow Islets, and Brackman, Portland and Tortoise Islands exhibiting similar cluster membership. Rum and Russell Islands stood out as having a larger proportion of membership in one single cluster (Fig. 3.1c).

One major anomaly amongst the islands is the relationship between Portland and Tortoise Islands. The results are significant for genic (Exact G-test, p = 0.0003,  $\alpha =$ 0.003) and genotypic (Exact G-test, p = 0.002,  $\alpha = 0.003$ ) differentiation, suggesting they represent two genetically distinct populations. However, the ecological data does not support this finding. Natal dispersal events between Portland Island and Tortoise Island are quite common. Indeed, there were more cases of natal dispersal between these two islands than between any other pair of islands. Out of a total of 21 natal dispersal events amongst the islands, there were no instances of natal dispersal for birds born on Rum or Russell Islands (from 2000 to 2002, and 2006 to 2007, respectively), two cases of natal dispersal between Portland and Brackman Islands from 2005 to 2007, three cases between Tortoise Island and Pellow Islets from 2000 to 2007, four natal dispersal events between Portland Island and Pellow Islets from 2000 to 2007, and 12 instances of natal dispersal between Portland and Tortoise Islands from 2000 to 2007. Tortoise Island is also the island that is closest to Portland Island (approximately 75 m from coast to coast), thus such dispersal between the sites is not surprising.

All evidence demonstrates that Portland, Rum and Russell Islands are genetically distinct populations. However, results for genic and genotypic differentiation are often discordant with each other (and with the ecological data) regarding Pellow Islets, Brackman Island, and Tortoise Island, and the relationships of these sites to Portland Island. As a result, I removed sparrows sampled at Pellow Islets, Brackman and Tortoise Islands (a total of 51 individuals) from further amongst-island analyses. By only considering Portland, Rum and Russell Islands, sites which I know for certain are genetically distinct, I avoided grouping island populations incorrectly, an error which

could significantly alter my results when examining patterns in genetic diversity and predation pressure. Considering each island to be a distinct population (when in fact they are not) would run the risk of comparing what is actually one population to itself. Grouping Pellow Islets and Portland, Brackman and Tortoise Islands as one population would prove difficult given that the G-tests have indicated that at least two sites (Pellow Islets and Brackman Island) are distinct and thus should not be grouped. Given this "gradient" of population structure, any definition of population structure would be arbitrary, and thus I have avoided doing so.

There was no genetic structuring evident beyond the population (site) level, and there were no subpopulations present within Portland Island, and Rithet's Bog on the mainland (AMOVA,  $F_{ST}$  of subpopulation/population = 0.002, p = 0.188). Thus, no further analyses were carried out below the level of population.



**Figure 3.1**. Results of Bayesian analysis in STRUCTURE for a) Landscapes, in which individual song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) sampled on the islands are found to the left of the black vertical line, individuals from the mainland to the right, b) Mainland sites (individuals sampled at Rithet's Bog to the left of the black vertical line, individuals from Swan Lake to the right) and c) Island sites (individuals sampled as followed: 1-Brackman Island, 2-Pellow Islets, 3-Portland Island, 4-Rum Island, 5-Russell Island, 6-Tortoise Island). In each individual analysis, K = 2. Each individual sparrow is represented by a single line, partitioned into two coloured segments that represent the individual's membership in each of the two clusters.



**Figure 3.2**. Genic (a) and genotypic (b) differentiation amongst island sample locations for song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*). Dotted lines indicate significant differentiation, solid indicate no differentiation. In both instances, Russell and Rum Islands are significantly differentiated from each other, and all other islands.

# 3.2 Genetic diversity and relatedness

I found evidence that individuals on the islands were more genetically diverse than those on the mainland (Fig. 3.3a; mean SH  $\pm$  SE for island landscape, 1.03  $\pm$  0.01, n = 188; mainland landscape, 0.95  $\pm$  0.01, n = 146; Mann-Whitney standardized Z = -4.81, df = 1, p < 0.001). The average SH contains data from all island birds, including those inhabiting Brackman and Tortoise Islands, and the Pellow Islets, however results are qualitatively the same when they are removed and only birds inhabiting Portland, Rum and Russell Islands are included (Appendix A). Among the three island populations, SH was higher for sparrows on Rum Island (1.08  $\pm$  0.04, n = 7) than for sparrows on Russell Island (1.04  $\pm$  0.05, n = 15) and Portland Island (1.04  $\pm$  0.01, n = 115), though there were no significant differences (Fig. 3.3b; Kruskal-Wallis H = 0.93, df = 2 p = 0.629). Considering the mainland populations, there was no significant difference in SH between Swan Lake *versus* Rithet's Bog (Fig. 3.3c; 1.0  $\pm$  0.03, n = 126, *versus* 0.94  $\pm$  0.01, n = 20 respectively; Mann-Whitney standardized Z = 1.55, df = 1, p = 0.120).

I found similar patterns of allelic richness (AR). The island landscape had significantly higher allelic richness than the mainland landscape at 11 of 13 loci (Sign test, p = 0.022). Amongst the island populations, there were no significant differences in AR between Portland and Russell Islands (Sign test, p = 0.267), Portland and Rum Islands (Sign test, p = 0.581) or Rum and Russell Islands (Sign test, p = 1.0). Similarly, on the mainland, there was no significant difference in AR between Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake (Sign test, p = 1.0).

The overall genetic similarity (r) of individuals was significantly higher amongst song sparrows on the high-predation mainland landscape than amongst sparrows located on the islands (-0.007  $\pm$  0.0005 and -0.004  $\pm$  0.0005, mean  $\pm$  SE for the islands and mainland, respectively; Table 3.1, Fig 3.4a; Mann-Whitney Z = 4.15, df = 1, p < 0.001, permutation p < 0.001). As in the case of SH, average relatedness for the island landscape includes all six islands. Also as with SH, the comparison of average relatedness between island and mainland landscapes was made using only Portland, Rum and Russell Islands, and results were qualitatively similar, though the difference was no longer significant (Appendix A). There also were significant differences in genetic similarity amongst the island populations (Fig 3.4b; Kruskal-Wallis H = 137.3, df = 2, p < 0.001, permutation p <0.001). Post-hoc tests of all pairwise comparisons found that sparrows in the Portland Island population had significantly higher relatedness (-0.0045  $\pm$ 0.0005) than both Rum Island (-0.0820  $\pm$  0.0103) and Russell Island (-0.0387  $\pm$  0.0046; Table 3.1, Fig. 3.4b). On the mainland, sparrows in Rithet's Bog (-0.004  $\pm$  0.0005) were significantly more genetically similar than those in Swan Lake (-0.0203  $\pm$  0.0048, Table 3.1; Fig. 3.4c; Mann-Whitney Z = -8.36, df = 1, p < 0.001, permutation p <0.001).

Finally, when SH and relatedness of each population were compared, there was a negative correlation, though it was not significant (Fig 3.5; r = -0.82, n = 5, p = 0.09).

**Table 3.1**. Between-site comparisons of genetic similarity (*r*) for both the landscape and population levels. Standardized Z-values are reported for the results of Mann-Whitney U-tests (Islands *vs*. Mainland, Rithet's Bog *vs*. Swan Lake) and post-hoc pairwise comparisons after Kruskal-Wallis testing (island comparisons).

Level of Analysis	Site 1	Site 2	Statistic	р
Landscape	Islands	Mainland	$Z_{7113,8065} = 4.15$	< 0.001
Population	Portland Island	Rum Island	$Z_{6555, 21} = 6.38$	< 0.001
	Portland Island	Russell Island	$Z_{6555, 105} = 9.86$	< 0.001
	Rum Island	Russell Island	$Z_{21, 105} = -1.77$	0.231
	Rithet's Bog	Swan Lake	$Z_{7875, 190} = -8.36$	< 0.001



Figure 3.3. Comparison of mean  $(\pm SE)$  standardized heterozygosity of song sparrows (Melospiza melodia) and daily survival rates of nests a) on the mainland (black circle) and islands (white), b) on Russell Island (black circle), Portland Island (grey) and Rum Island (white), and c) in Rithet's Bog (black circle) and Swan Lake (white) on the mainland. DSRs for Russell Island have no SE as they are based on one year of data.



**Figure 3.4.** Mean ( $\pm$ SE) genetic similarity coefficient (*r*) for all song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) within each (a) landscape, (b) island population and (c) mainland population.



**Figure 3.5**. Spearman's rank correlation of the averaged standardized heterozygosity and average genetic similarity of all song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) in each population (Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake on the mainland, and Portland, Rum and Russell Islands). Grey circles represent island populations, and black circles represent mainland populations.

#### 3.3 Predation pressure: daily survival rates (DSRs) of nests and adult survival

I found significant differences in nest survival at both the landscape and population scales, indicating differences in predation pressure (Table 3.2, Fig. 3.3). Song sparrow nests on the islands had a significantly higher probability of survival (indicating significantly lower levels of predation pressure) than those on the mainland (0.963  $\pm$ 0.004, n = 27,  $0.953 \pm 0.005$ , n = 10, mean  $\pm$  standard error for islands and mainland respectively; Fig. 3.3a;  $\chi^2 = 4.8$ , df = 1, p = 0.03). At the population scale, nests on Rum Island had a higher probability of survival  $(0.985 \pm 0.01, n = 3)$ , than nests on Portland Island (0.951 ± 0.007, n = 7; Fig. 3.3b;  $\chi^2$  = 34.9, df = 2, p < 0.001). Russell Island DSRs  $(0.946 \pm 0.0, n = 1)$  had no SE as they were based on only one year of data, and thus were not included in analyses here, but see Appendix B for analyses including Russell Island. On the mainland, there was a significant difference between the probability of survival of nests in the Swan Lake population  $(0.960 \pm 0.005, n = 3)$  and those in the Rithet's Bog population (0.949  $\pm$  0.006, n = 7; Fig. 3.3c;  $\chi^2$  =6.91, df = 1, p = 0.01). These differences may seem small; however, these values represent the probability of a nest surviving a single day. When considering the full 25 day nesting period, small differences in daily survival rates of nests translate into considerable differences in survival over the full 25 day period to fledging.

I also found differences in adult survival during the breeding season at the landscape scale, though overwinter and annual survival estimates did not differ at either scale (Table 3.2). At the landscape level, adults inhabiting the islands had significantly higher survival during the breeding season than those on the mainland (Table 3.2; 0.968  $\pm$  0.01 and 0.856  $\pm$ 0.02, mean  $\pm$  SE for islands and mainland, respectively,  $\chi^2 = 26.7$ ,

df = 1, p < 0.001). At the population level, I found no significant difference ( $\chi^2 = 0.04$ , df = 1, p = 0.85) in adult survival amongst individuals inhabiting Portland Island (Table 3.2;  $0.962 \pm 0.02$ , mean  $\pm$  SE) and Rum Island (0.952  $\pm 0.05$ ). Similarly, on the mainland, I found no difference in survival probabilities of adults at Swan Lake compared to those inhabiting Rithet's Bog during the breeding season (mean  $\pm$  SE for Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake, respectively,  $0.862 \pm 0.02$  and  $0.816 \pm 0.06$ ; Table 3.2;  $\chi^2 = 0.62$ , df = 1, p = 0.43). There were no significant differences in overwinter survival of adults between the island and mainland landscapes (Table 3.2;  $\chi^2 = 0.63$ , df = 1, p = 0.43), between the two mainland populations (Table 3.2;  $\chi^2 = 0.14$ , df = 2, p =0.71), or amongst the Portland and Rum Island populations (Table 3.2;  $\chi^2 = 0.31$ , df = 1, p = 0.58). When survival during the breeding season and overwinter survival were combined to estimate annual survival, there were no significant differences between the two landscapes (Table 3.2;  $\chi^2 = 0.002$ , df = 1, p = 0.96), between Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake on the mainland (Table 3.2;  $\chi^2 = 0.000$ , df = 1, p = 1), or amongst Portland and Rum Islands (Table 3.2;  $\chi^2 = 0.04$ , df = 1, p = 0.85).

**Table 3.2.** Summary of nest and adult survival of song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*), as well as finite rate of population growth (lambda) for the two landscapes and all populations under study. All values presented are mean  $\pm$  SE. Daily survival rates of nests were calculated using the method of Bart and Robson. Adult survival during the 22-week breeding season was calculated using the Kaplan-Meier method. Overwinter adult survival was calculated by dividing the number of individuals known to be alive in year t + 1 by the number of individuals alive at the end of year t. Survival during the breeding season and overwinter survival were multiplied to estimate annual adult survival. \*An estimate of juvenile survival of  $0.234 \pm 0.010$  is included in calculations of lambda, and is constant across sites, as it is an estimate obtained from nearby Mandarte Island (Smith *et al.* 2002). †Values for Russell Island have no SE as they are based on only one year of data, and were not included in statistical analyses, but see Appendix B for supplementary analyses including Russell Island.

Level of Analysis	Site	Daily Nest Survival	Breeding Adult Survival	Overwinter Adult Survival	Annual Adult Survival	Lambda*	Years of data
Landscape	Islands	$0.963 \pm 0.004$	$0.968\pm0.01$	$0.557\pm0.05$	$0.539 \pm 0.25$	$1.46\pm0.13$	7
	Mainland	$0.953\pm0.005$	$0.856 \pm 0.02$	$0.610\pm0.05$	$0.522\pm0.26$	$1.11\pm0.07$	7
Population	Rum Island	$0.985\pm0.011$	$0.952\pm0.05$	$0.417\pm0.08$	$0.397 \pm 0.15$	$1.85\pm0.71$	3
	Portland Isl.	$0.951\pm0.007$	$0.962\pm0.02$	$0.486 \pm 0.09$	$0.465\pm0.23$	$1.15\pm0.14$	7
	Russell Isl.†	$0.946\pm0.000$	$1.00\ \pm 0.00$	$0.357\pm0.00$	$0.357\pm0.00$	$0.59\pm0.0$	1
	Swan Lake	$0.960\pm0.007$	$0.816\pm0.06$	$0.631\pm0.05$	$0.515\pm0.28$	$1.11\pm0.09$	3
	Rithet's Bog	$0.949\pm0.007$	$0.862\pm0.02$	$0.600\pm0.06$	$0.517\pm0.27$	$1.10\pm0.10$	7

# 3.4 Identifying immigrants to measure dispersal

The assignment tests conducted in Geneclass at both the landscape and population levels suggest that dispersal is not likely a mechanism underlying the observed differences in genetic diversity. Between landscapes (islands versus mainland), there was no significant difference in the proportion of the sampled individuals identified as immigrants (2.9% and 4.1% for the islands and mainland respectively, Fisher's Exact Test, p = 0.75). Such a result indicates that the low genetic diversity of sparrows on the mainland is not likely due to a lack of gene flow compared to the islands.

I found similar results at the population scale. Amongst the three island populations, there were only slight differences in the proportion of immigrants at Rum Island compared to Portland Island (0% versus 2.6% of individuals sampled were identified as immigrants for Rum and Portland Islands, respectively, Fisher's Exact Test, p = 1.0). Rum Island and Russell Island did not have significantly different proportions of immigrants (0% and 6.7% for Rum and Russell, respectively, Fisher's Exact Test, p =1.0), nor did Portland Island and Russell Island (2.6% and 6.7% for Portland and Russell, respectively, Fisher's Exact Test, p = 0.39). Finally, the assignment tests for the mainland populations found no significant difference in the proportion of sampled individuals identified as immigrants at Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake (3.9% and 5% for Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake, respectively, Fisher's Exact Test, p = 0.59).

#### 3.5 Bottleneck Analysis

I found no evidence of an excess of heterozygosity that is indicative of recent population bottlenecks at either the island or mainland landscape (Wilcoxon Test, p =

0.904 and p = 0.999, for the island and mainland respectively). I found similar results amongst the island populations, with no excess in heterozygosity found at Portland, Rum or Russell Islands (Wilcoxon Test, p = 0.554, p = 0.632, and p = 0.793, respectively). There was no evidence of a genetic bottleneck in either mainland population (Wilcoxon Test, p = 0.995 and p = 0.227 for probability of heterozygosity excess at Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake, respectively). In addition, at each study location (landscape and populations), BOTTLENECK identified the L-shaped distribution of allele frequencies that is expected under mutation-drift equilibrium, further indicating the lack of a genetic bottleneck.

# *3.6 Per capita rate of reproduction and finite rate of increase* ( $\lambda$ )

I found a trend at the landscape level that suggests high rates of predation may in fact be affecting the reproduction and population growth rates of song sparrows. The island landscape had a per capita rate of reproduction of  $3.90 \pm 0.41$  (mean  $\pm$  SE), n = 26, though it was not quite significantly greater than that of the mainland landscape (Fig. 3.6a;  $2.55 \pm 0.19$ , n = 10; Z = -1.9, df = 1, p = 0.05). Amongst island populations, the per capita rates of reproduction for Portland Island ( $2.96 \pm 0.39$ , n = 7) and Rum Island ( $5.42 \pm 1.69$ , n = 3; Fig. 3.6b) were not significantly different from one another (Z = 1.48, df = 1, p = 0.14). On the mainland, Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake also had similar per capita rates of reproduction (Fig. 3.6c;  $2.49 \pm 0.27$ , n = 7 for Rithet's Bog and 2.65  $\pm$  0.18, n = 3 for Swan Lake; Z = 0.114, df = 1, p = 0.91).

I found similar patterns after combining per capita rate of reproduction with adult survival to estimate lambda (the finite rate of increase) for each site (Table 3.2). The mean lambda value was not significantly greater for the island landscape at  $1.46 \pm 0.13$  (mean  $\pm$  SE), n = 24, compared to that of the mainland ( $1.11 \pm 0.07$ , n = 10; Fig. 3.7a; Z = -1.44, df = 2, p = 0.15). As with per capita rates of reproduction, the lambda values for Portland Island ( $1.15 \pm 0.14$ , n = 7) and Rum Island ( $1.85 \pm 0.71$ , n = 2) were not significantly different from one another (Fig. 3.7b; Z = 0.88, df = 1, p = 0.38). Similarly, the lambda values for Rithet's Bog ( $1.10 \pm 0.10$ , n = 7) and Swan Lake ( $1.11 \pm 0.09$ , n = 3) were not significantly different (Fig. 3.7c; Z = -0.114, df = 2, p = 0.91).

The results for total egg production highlight the fact that predation is driving these patterns in per capita reproduction and population growth. Despite the higher per capita rate of reproduction, females on the islands do not produce significantly greater numbers of eggs ( $10.19 \pm 0.40$ , mean  $\pm$  SE, n = 27) than females on the mainland ( $10.45 \pm 0.44$ , n = 10; Fig 3.8a; t = -0.428, df = 23.73, p = 0.673). Between island populations, there were no significant differences in the average number of eggs females produced ( $10.9 \pm 1.55$ , n = 3, and  $9.44 \pm 0.26$ , n = 7, for Rum and Portland Islands, respectively; Fig 3.8b; t = -1.45, df = 2.1, p = 0.446). On the mainland, female song sparrows in Rithet's Bog ( $11.02 \pm 0.33$ , n = 7) produced significantly more eggs than those in Swan Lake ( $9.13 \pm 1.00$ , n = 3; Fig 3.8c; t = 2.40, df = 8, p = 0.043), though there was no difference in per capita reproduction or lambda.



**Figure 3.6.** Mean ( $\pm$  SE) per capita rate of reproduction (number of offspring produced per female) of song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) inhabiting (a) the island and mainland landscapes, (b) Rum Island and Portland Island, and (c) Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake on the mainland.



Location (Landscape or Population)

**Figure 3.7.** Mean ( $\pm$  SE) finite rate of increase ( $\lambda$ ) of song sparrow (*Melospiza melodia*) populations located (a) on the island and mainland landscapes, (b) on Rum and Portland Islands, and (c) at Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake on the mainland. Finite rate of increase was calculated by combining estimated yearly adult survival with per capita reproduction, to estimate population growth.



**Figure 3.8**. Mean ( $\pm$  SE) number of eggs produced per female song sparrow (*Melospiza melodia*) located (a) on the island and mainland landscapes, (b) on Rum and Portland Islands, and (c) at Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake on the mainland. Number of eggs produced per female was calculated by multiplying the mean clutch size by the average number of nests.
#### 3.7 Variance in reproductive success as a result of predation

My results suggest variance in reproductive success may influence genetic diversity and relatedness. I found that the island landscape, which had high genetic diversity, also had a significantly higher proportion of females who successfully reproduced (i.e. fledged at least one offspring in a given breeding season) than the mainland (mean  $\pm$  SE for islands, 0.79  $\pm$  0.04, n = 27 and mainland 0.65  $\pm$  0.04, n = 10; Fig. 3.9a; Z = -2.08, df = 2, p = 0.037). Between the island populations, there was a significant difference in the proportion of successful females (Z = 2.42, df =2, p = 0.015), with the average proportion of successful females for Rum Island and Portland Island being 1.0  $\pm$  0.0, n = 7, and 0.70  $\pm$  0.05, n = 3, respectively (Fig. 3.9b). When comparing the average proportion of successful females between the two mainland populations, I found no significant differences between Rithet's Bog (0.63  $\pm$  0.06, mean  $\pm$  SE, n = 7) and Swan Lake (0.70  $\pm$  0.02, n = 3; Fig 3.9c; Z = 0.686, df = 2, p = 0.49).

I also estimated the coefficient of variation (CV) of the number of offspring fledged by each female within a given breeding season. This measure complements the previously reported proportion of successful females and provides further support that genetic diversity of a population is related to the variance in reproductive success of parents. I found a significantly lower average CV (which indicates less variance in reproductive success amongst breeding females) on the islands than for females on the mainland ( $0.76 \pm 0.07$ , n = 27, and  $1.00 \pm 0.07$ , n = 10, mean  $\pm$  SE for islands and mainland, respectively; Fig. 3.10a; t = -0.25, df = 28.85, p = 0.02). Consistent with my results on the proportion of successful females, I found a significant difference in coefficient of variation of the number of offspring fledged by each female between the two island populations. Rum Island had a significantly lower average CV ( $0.31 \pm 0.06$ , mean  $\pm$  SE, n = 3) than females on Portland Island ( $0.89 \pm 0.09$ , n = 7, Fig 3.10b; t = 4.08, df = 7.95, p = 0.001). There was no significant difference between the CV of Rithet's Bog ( $1.05 \pm 0.08$ , n = 7) and Swan Lake ( $0.89 \pm 0.09$ , n = 3; Fig. 3.10c; t = 1.08, df = 8, p = 0.312).

## 3.8 Correlating standardized heterozygosity, relatedness and demographic mechanisms

I found evidence that both the population growth rate and the variance in reproductive success within a population may serve as important mechanisms driving the patterns in genetic diversity and relatedness in my study locations. When Russell Island was removed, I found positive significant correlations (after correction for multiple tests) between SH and the rate of per capita reproduction, lambda and proportion of females who successfully fledged at least one offspring, and a negative significant correlation between SH and the coefficient of variation of the number of fledged offspring (Fig. 3.11). I also found that relatedness was negatively correlated with daily survival rates (Fig. 3.12). These results indicate that SH is high when the reproductive rate and population growth rate are high, when a greater proportion of females in the population successfully reproduce, and when there is less variation the number of offspring fledged by each female. Also, the average relatedness is lower when daily survival rates of nests are higher. When Russell Island was included, there was no demographic mechanism that was significantly correlated with SH or genetic similarity after correction for multiple tests (Appendix B). Finally, there was no demographic mechanism that was correlated with relatedness when each year for each population was considered, with data lagged such that the relatedness in a given year is affected by the demography of the previous year (Fig. 3.13).

When I correlated daily survival rates with the other four demographic mechanisms, using each year within a population as a single data point, I found that daily survival rates were positively and significantly correlated (after correction for multiple tests) with per capita rates of reproduction (Fig. 3.14a), lambda (Fig. 3.14b) and the proportion of females that successfully fledged at least one offspring (Fig. 3.14c). Daily survival rates were negatively and significantly correlated with the coefficient of variation of the number of offspring each female fledged (Fig. 3.14d). These results indicate that when a population has high nest survival, reproduction and population growth rates increase, along with the proportion of females that are successful, while the variation in the number of offspring each female fledges decreases.



**Figure 3.9.** Mean ( $\pm$  SE) proportion of successful females (proportion of females fledging at least one offspring) for song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) inhabiting (a) the island and mainland landscapes, (b) Rum and Portland Islands, and (c) Swan Lake and Rithet's Bog on the mainland.



**Figure 3.10**. Mean ( $\pm$ SE) coefficient of variation of the number of fledged offspring for song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) inhabiting (a) the island and mainland landscapes, (b) Rum and Portland Islands, and (c) Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake on the mainland.



**Figure 3.11**. Spearman's rank correlations of standardized heterozygosity of song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) with a) daily survival rates of nests, b) per capita rates of reproduction, c) lambda (population growth rates), d) the proportion of females who successfully fledged at least one nestling, e) the coefficient of variation of the number of offspring fledged by each female, and f) the average rate of adult survival during the breeding season. Light grey circles represent island populations (Portland and Rum Islands), and black circles represent mainland populations (Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake). Bolded correlations were significant after correction for multiple tests ( $\alpha = 0.008$ ).



**Figure 3.12**. Spearman's rank correlations of relatedness (genetic similarity) of song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) with a) daily survival rates of nests, b) per capita rates of reproduction, c) lambda (population growth rates), d) the proportion of females who successfully fledged at least one nestling, e) the coefficient of variation of the number of offspring fledged by each female, and f) the average rate of adult survival during the breeding season. Light grey circles represent island populations (Portland and Rum Islands), and black circles represent mainland populations (Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake). Bolded correlations were significant after correcting for multiple tests ( $\alpha = 0.008$ ).



**Figure 3.13**. Spearman's rank correlations of relatedness (genetic similarity) of song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) with a) daily survival rates of nests, b) per capita rates of reproduction, c) lambda (population growth rates), d) the proportion of females who successfully fledged at least one nestling, e) the coefficient of variation of the number of offspring fledged by each female, and f) the average rate of adult survival during the breeding season. Each circle represents one year of data for either an island population (Portland and Rum Islands, grey circles) or a mainland population (Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake, black circles). The data were lagged such that the relatedness in a given year (t) was matched with the demography of the previous year (t-1).



**Figure 3.14**. Spearman's rank correlations of daily survival rates of song sparrow (*Melospiza melodia*) nests with a) per capita rate of reproduction, b) lambda (population growth rate), c) proportion of females that successfully fledge at least one nestling, d) coefficient of variation of number of offspring fledged by each female e) adult survival during the breeding season. Each circle represents one year of data for either an island population (Portland and Rum Islands, grey circles) or a mainland population (Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake, black circles). Data were not lagged for this analysis, as the DSRs in year t should be expected to influence the each measure within year t. Bolded correlations were significant after correction for multiple tests ( $\alpha = 0.01$ ).

#### **Chapter 4: Discussion**

## 4.1 General discussion

In this thesis, I first investigated the genetic structure of song sparrows inhabiting two locations on Vancouver Island, B.C., as well as six Gulf Islands. I found genetic structuring at both the landscape and population level. I then used this information to compare genetic diversity, predation pressure, and demography between landscapes and amongst populations. My results provide support for the hypothesis that the genetics of prey populations can be influenced by the level of predation pressure they experience. For each comparison, I found significant differences in relatedness and nest predation, such that high predation was associated with high relatedness (and in one instance, low genetic diversity). My results also show that reproduction, particularly variance in reproductive success as a result of predation, may be an important demographic mechanism driving the relationship between predation, genetic diversity and genetic similarity (relatedness).

#### 4.2 Genetic structure of song sparrows

My results show that the two landscapes (island and mainland) are genetically distinct, as are the two mainland populations located in Saanich, B.C., and at least three of the six Southern Gulf Island populations under study. The result that the two landscapes are genetically distinct was expected, given the distance between the two locations (over 25 km) and the low levels of dispersal between them, as evidenced by the assignment tests. While song sparrows can and do disperse at such great distances (Smith *et al.* 1996), a sparrow emigrating from one landscape in my study would pass

over many suitable mainland and island locations before reaching the other landscape in this study. There are populations of breeding song sparrows on most Gulf Islands, and many populations are present on Vancouver Island (Smith *et al.* 1996, Wilson *et al.* 2011). Previous work in this system also has shown evidence for genetic differentiation between sites in different landscapes using both exact G-tests and Bayesian clustering techniques (MacDougall-Shackleton *et al.* 2011).

At the population level, at both landscapes I found genetic structure was detectable at distances of 3 km or greater. The two mainland populations, Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake, are just over 3 km apart, and all three tests for genetic structure found them to be genetically distinct from one another. Of the three island populations that I can conclusively say are genetically distinct from one another, the smallest distance between them is 3 km (between Russell Island and Portland Island).

For islands that are less than 3 km apart, the results of tests for genetic structure were inconclusive. In general, avian species exhibit less genetic structuring amongst populations than other taxa, most likely as a result of higher gene flow amongst populations of birds (Crochet 2000). Wilson *et al.* (2011) recently studied the genetic structure of song sparrow populations on a nearby group of Gulf Islands, on Vancouver Island and along the west coast of British Columbia and California. Among the Gulf Islands, there was evidence of genetic structuring at distances of less than 2 km (Wilson *et al.* 2011), and thus it is conceivable that such structuring could also exist amongst the Gulf Islands in this study. However, given the discordance between tests using genetic data, as well as discordance between the genetic and ecological data, I was unable to

conclusively determine whether or not Portland Island, Brackman Island, Tortoise Island and the Pellow Islets represented one genetic population.

Finally, I found no evidence for genetic structuring below the population level of analysis, which is consistent with past work in this system. MacDougall-Shackleton *et al.* (2011) looked at genetic structure of sparrows at a level that would be most consistent with the "subpopulation" level I examined in this study, and found little evidence of genetically distinct subpopulations.

#### 4.3 Relationship between dispersal and genetic diversity

My results allow me to rule out dispersal (or lack thereof) as a possible mechanism driving patterns in genetic diversity and relatedness. The result that there were no differences in dispersal between landscapes, along with birds on the islands being less related to each other and more genetically diverse than those on the mainland, is the opposite of the pattern usually reported in the literature (Frankham 1997), though consistent with earlier findings in this system (MacDougall-Shackleton *et al.* 2011). That the island landscape has lower average relatedness and higher genetic diversity (both in terms of heterozygosity and allelic richness) than the mainland, though surprising, does not on its own discredit dispersal as a mechanism. The argument may simply be flipped, in that perhaps in this system the mainland landscape is more isolated than the islands. Such a result is not impossible, as the landscapes are very different – the mainland is an 'urban matrix' and the islands are rural and largely uninhabited by humans. It is thus conceivable that the mainland populations are isolated by the surrounding roadways and commercial and residential developments, acting as potential behavioural dispersal

barriers for song sparrows and other birds (Lynch and Whigham 1984). However, the results of the assignment tests show no significant difference in the number of immigrants identified in either landscape – in essence, the urbanized mainland is not more isolated than the islands. This result supports previous findings in this system. MacDougall-Shackleton *et al.* (2011) also used assignment tests to estimate dispersal between locations at each landscape and found no differences in the number of immigrants at each landscape. Differing rates of dispersal is thus an unlikely explanation for the observed patterns in genetic diversity in this system.

The assignment test results at the population scale provide support for ruling out dispersal as a mechanism. There were no differences in the proportion of song sparrows identified as immigrants between the two mainland populations, or amongst the three island populations, though there were significant differences in relatedness. Hence, the lower average relatedness of song sparrows at Rum Island and Swan Lake cannot be explained by the presence of more (unrelated) immigrants.

While the result that the island landscape is not less isolated than the mainland landscape is surprising at first glance, it becomes less so when one considers the system more carefully. Islands are generally considered isolated due to the surrounding bodies of water that act as dispersal barriers (Wilson *et al.* 2011). However, many bird species are capable of dispersing over long distances, and over large bodies of water. Recent work tracking birds with geolocators has shown that small passerines who may not be thought of as particularly strong fliers are capable of long distance migration (Stutchbury *et al.* 2009). Wood thrushes (*Hylocichla mustelina*) and purple martins (*Progne subis*) were capable of rapid long-distance migration, crossing directly over the Gulf of Mexico,

the former flying up to 271 km per day, and the latter up to 577 km per day (Stuchbury *et al.* 2009).

While song sparrows on the West Coast are not migratory, they are capable of dispersing amongst islands. Smith *et al.* (1996) removed five banded song sparrows from Reay Island (a small islet near the Southern Gulf Islands) and released them at Lion's Bay, 80 km away (and across the Strait of Georgia). One male returned to Reay Island two months later, and a female returned ten months after being relocated (the birds were not fitted with any tracking devices, thus the fates of the others are unknown; Smith *et al.* 1996). Song sparrows are clearly capable of relatively long flights over open water, making the greatest distance (13 km) observed between my study sites seem minute, especially since there are plenty of other Gulf Islands that would be suitable stopover locations in between. Thus, an important distinction must be made in that these island populations are by no means insular.

#### 4.4 Patterns of predation, genetic diversity and relatedness

Overall, my results support the hypothesis that the level of predation pressure that a population experiences can influence the genetic diversity of the population, and that these genetic impacts occur through predator-induced changes in prey demography. My results for comparisons of heterozygosity and relatedness are consistent with the results of a previous study (MacDougall-Shackleton *et al.* 2011) that also found higher heterozygosity and lower relatedness amongst song sparrows on the island landscape. My study builds on the foundation provided by MacDougall-Shackleton *et al.* (2011) by increasing both the sample size and the number of loci at which individuals were genotyped and by examining two levels of genetic structure: the island and mainland landscapes, as well as the populations within each of them. I also examined the demographic processes that may be driving the observed patterns in genetic diversity and genetic similarity.

At the landscape level, the mainland, with its low genetic diversity and high relatedness, had lower nest survival rates compared to the island landscape. Adults on the mainland also had lower survival during the breeding season than those on the islands, though there were no differences in either overwinter or annual adult survival. Adult songbirds face an increased risk of being preyed upon during the breeding season, when they spend a great deal of time and energy foraging and caring for offspring (Slagsvold and Dale 1996, Lima 2009). It is also important to mention that estimates of adult survival do not distinguish between actual deaths and individuals who simply left the study location. It is possible that if a sparrow is still alive but not seen again in the study location, it simply left the study area after experiencing nest predation. Though predation is not the only reason birds exhibit breeding dispersal, it is quite common in birds after nest predation events (Lima 1998, Fisher and Wiebe 2006, Catlin and Rosenberg 2008, Lima 2009).

Many of my results at the population level support the patterns observed at the landscape level. In both population comparisons, I found that the population with higher nest predation (Portland Island and Rithet's Bog, for the islands and mainland landscape, respectively) also had higher relatedness, though there were no significant differences in heterozygosity. I also found that the average standardized heterozygosity of song sparrow populations was strongly (though not quite significantly) correlated with the average relatedness of individuals in each population, such that populations of song sparrows with high heterozygosity generally have lower relatedness.

Other studies have found a relationship between relatedness (also called genetic similarity) and various measures of genetic diversity. Relatedness (or genetic similarity) of parents has been shown to be negatively correlated with heterozygosity of offspring in a variety of species, including alpine marmots (*Marmota marmota*; Cohas *et al.* 2007), southern dunlins (*Calidris alpina schinzii*; Blomqvist *et al.* 2010) and Seychelles warblers (*Acrocephalus sechellensis*; Richardson *et al.* 2004). The results of these studies are unsurprising, given that decreased heterozygosity often arises as a result of increased mating of related individuals (Tregenza and Wedell 2000, Keller and Waller 2002). Therefore, a lack of significant differences in heterozygosity at the population level in this study may simply be due to a lack of power (Cohen 1992), though further studies, preferably with larger sample sizes for all populations under consideration, would be necessary to confirm this.

At both scales, I found associations between increased nest predation, decreased rates of reproduction and population growth, and increased variance in reproductive success amongst breeding pairs in the same landscape or population. The mainland had a lower (almost significantly so) rate of per capita reproduction when compared to the islands, though females at each landscape laid similar numbers of eggs over a season. Differences in reproduction are therefore likely due to differences in nest predation, and not a difference in females' ability to lay eggs. The average population growth rate (lambda) for the mainland was not significantly lower than the islands, though it is important to note that the juvenile survival estimate used to estimate lambda was calculated based on data from Mandarte Island (Smith *et al.* 2002), a Gulf Island with very low rates of predation. Thus, this estimate represents a "best case" scenario, particularly for the mainland. It is possible that more accurate estimates of juvenile survival would bring the growth rate on the mainland to below replacement levels, indicating a declining population. That no recent bottleneck was detected at the mainland indicates that the there was no recent major event that led to a rapid population decline, such as a catastrophic mass-casualty event as in the case of Keller *et al.* (1994). This result is also concordant with bottleneck analyses conducted by MacDougall-Shackleton *et al.* (2011). However, the predation rate on the mainland may be causing relatively slow, consistent declines, which could lead to the lower genetic diversity and higher relatedness observed here.

While I found no differences in the per capita rate of reproduction or lambda between either pair of populations, correlations in this study, as well as previous work in this system have shown that the per capita rate of reproduction is highly correlated with daily survival rates (Zanette *et al.* 2006). Daily survival rates of nests accounted for over 70% of the variation in the per capita rate of reproduction (referred to as annual reproductive success; Zanette *et al.* 2006). That I did not find significant differences in lambda between populations inhabiting each landscape is likely due to low sample sizes, particularly in the cases of Rum Island and Swan Lake, for which data were collected only from 2000 to 2002.

In two of the three comparisons (island *vs*. mainland and Portland Island *vs*. Rum Island), the high predation location also had significantly greater variance in reproductive success, as predicted by the 'family effects' which can occur when the survival of young

is non-independent. In addition, daily survival rates were significantly correlated with variance in reproductive success when examined on a yearly basis. The mean SH of each population was strongly and significantly correlated with both measures of variance in reproductive success, such that populations with lower variance in reproductive success had higher SH. While relatedness was not significantly correlated with variance in reproductive success, the effect size was strong, and thus the lack of significance is likely a power issue (Cohen 1992). These results combined lend support to variance in reproductive success as a result of predation being an important mechanism driving patterns in SH and relatedness.

Others have found similar 'family effects' on juvenile survival as a result of predation occur in a variety of species with highly dependent young (Boutin *et al.* 1988, O'Donoghue 1994, Pettorelli and Durant 2007, Panzacchi *et al.* 2009). Family effects are particularly important in birds, given the non-independence of eggs and nestlings during incubation and brood-rearing (Ricklefs 1969, Hatchwell 2009, MacDougall-Shackleton *et al.* 2011). Under normal levels of predation, breeding birds will lose at least one nest each season, and the effects of losing entire nests is often discussed in the context of reduced clutch sizes as a result of previous failed nesting attempts (Lima 2009, Travers 2010). Thus, that I found higher variance in reproductive success at the high-predation locations is not surprising. Interestingly, I found greater variance in reproductive success was associated with higher average relatedness, supporting the findings of Beckerman *et al.* (2011) in their modeling experiment that relatedness increased when predation affected entire family groups.

While the differences in predation between the two landscapes are most striking, it should be noted there could be other factors at play. One mechanism that could result in the observed patterns in genetic diversity and relatedness is a difference in mating behaviour, i.e. inbreeding avoidance or extra-pair mating. It is possible that song sparrows inhabiting the islands are better able to recognize and avoid mating with related individuals (Keller and Arcese 1998), or that females on the islands engage in extra-pair matings with males whose genes are more complementary to their own (Jennions and Petrie 2000, Mays et al. 2008). However, Reid et al. (2007) studied a population of song sparrows on a nearby Gulf Island and found that rates of extra-pair fertilization were no more common amongst females who were more related to their social mate. Further, when extra-pair mating occurred, there was no difference in relatedness of females to their social or extra-pair mate (Reid *et al.* 2007). It is therefore unlikely that song sparrows inhabiting the Gulf Island populations in this study have higher genetic diversity as a result of differences in extra-pair copulation frequency compared to those on the mainland.

As for inbreeding avoidance, MacDougall-Shackleton *et al.* (2011) found that relative to other potential mates within each landscape, socially mated pairs on the mainland were no more related to each other than those on the islands. This result indicates that the low genetic diversity and high average relatedness exhibited by birds on the mainland is not due to a reduced ability to avoid mating with related individuals (MacDougall-Shackleton *et al.* 2011). Others who work on nearby populations of song sparrows have also found no evidence for inbreeding avoidance in the species (Keller and Arcese 1998). Thus, inbreeding avoidance is an unlikely explanation for the differences in genetic diversity and relatedness between landscapes and amongst populations I reported here.

That predation pressure can have effects on the genetic diversity of prey populations is not surprising, given the significant impacts predators have on prey demography, which have been demonstrated in this study. Thus, more research on the genetic effects of predation should be conducted, given the importance of genetic diversity in the long-term health of populations (McNeely *et al.* 1990, Soulé and Mills 1998, Frankham 2005). By focusing only on the ecological impacts of predation, we are failing to recognize the more insidious genetic impacts. Populations require genetic variation to respond to environmental change (Jamieson 2006) and thus a population that may appear to be healthy could in fact be lacking in genetic diversity and thus at higher risk for extinction (Frankham 1998). Given the threats species are currently facing, and will continue to face in the future, maintaining genetic diversity is one way in which conservation biologists can assist populations in adapting to changes, increasing their probability of persistence.

#### **Chapter 5: Summary and Conclusions**

## 5.1 Summary

This study demonstrates the potential for predation pressure to influence the genetic diversity and relatedness of prey populations, through effects on prey demography. At two different levels of analysis, I found that high predation pressure is associated with lower genetic diversity and increased average relatedness of song sparrows. Of the possible mechanisms driving the patterns in genetic diversity and relatedness explored in this thesis, I found no evidence that dispersal plays a role in my study populations. There also was no evidence of any rapid population declines that may lead to genetic bottlenecks at either scale. In addition, previous work in this system has shown no difference in mating behaviour between song sparrows at each landscape.

Instead, predators appear to affect the genetics of prey populations through their impacts on prey reproduction. When nest predation is high, the rates of reproduction and population growth are low, though the number of total eggs laid by each female is not lower. In addition, a smaller proportion of females successfully fledge nestlings, and there is greater variation in the number of offspring each female fledges, both of which indicate that predators can influence the variance in reproductive success within prey populations. These impacts of predators on prey demography may explain the initially surprising result that song sparrows inhabiting the Gulf Islands are more genetically diverse than sparrows found on the Vancouver Island "mainland", a result which is the opposite of what is normally found in island-mainland comparisons of genetic diversity.

### 5.2 Conclusions

Predators may indeed have significant impacts on the genetic diversity and relatedness of prey populations, by negatively affecting the reproduction of prey. High nest predation can lead not only to lower reproduction, but also can skew the reproduction so that fewer individuals in a population are contributing offspring to be recruited into the population. This study has shown that these demographic impacts of predators may lead to the reduced genetic health of populations, by decreasing genetic diversity and increasing the relatedness of individuals.

My results demonstrate the importance of considering and assessing the genetic effects of predation when developing conservation plans for native species declining as a result of introduced predators. This study provides an exception to the rule that island populations are less genetically diverse than those on the mainland, as a result of increased isolation on islands (Frankham 1997, Eldridge *et al.* 2004, White and Searle 2007, Wilson *et al.* 2011), though it should be noted that in this study, the islands are located closer to the mainland than in many other island-mainland comparisons. Thus, care should be taken to identify the ecological and genetic risk factors of populations on a case-by-case basis, whenever possible. In addition, more emphasis should be placed on integrating ecology and genetics in future studies on the effects of predation, rather than considering the two as extremes in a dichotomy.

My results are particularly relevant in the debate regarding the relocation of endangered species to islands to protect them from exotic predators. One concern among conservation geneticists is that translocated species could face losses in genetic diversity as a result of the increased isolation of island populations (Jamieson *et al.* 2006, Boessenkool *et al.* 2007), however my results show this may not always be the case. Increased predation pressure from invasive predators on the mainland may actually cause significant decreases in the genetic diversity and increases in relatedness of the populations residing there, which may increase the possibility of extinction (Frankham and Ralls 1998, Soulé and Mills 1998).

Understanding the overall impact of predators on prey populations is essential given the threat to native species by invasive predators (Clout 2001, Salo *et al.* 2007, Medina *et al.* 2011). Recent work examining the indirect effects of predators on prey demography have highlighted the fact that the full impact of predation may have been traditionally underestimated in studies focused on direct killings (Preisser *et al.* 2005, Lima 2009, Zanette *et al.* 2011, Allen 2012). Similarly, my study provides evidence that predators can impact prey populations in ways that may not be apparent when researchers and managers are focused solely on the direct effects of predation on prey demography and ignore the genetic effects.

## **Bibliography**

- Alho, J. S., K. Välimäki, and J. Merilä. 2010. Rhh: an R extension for estimating multilocus heterozygosity and heterozygosity-heterozygosity correlation. Molec Ecol Resour 10:720-722.
- Allen, M. C. Anti-predator behaviour reduces the number of offspring songbirds produce per year. M.Sc. Thesis, University of Western Ontario, London, ON. 79p.
- Amos, W., J. Worthington Wilmer, K. Fullard, T. M. Burg, J. P. Croxall, D. Bloch and T. Coulson. 2001. The influence of parental relatedness on reproductive success. Proc R Soc B 268:2021-2027.
- Arcese, P., M. K. Sogge, A. B. Marr, and M. A. Patten. 2002. Song sparrow (*Melospiza melodia*), The Birds of North America Online (A. Poole, Ed.). Ithaca: Cornell Lab of Ornithology; Retrieved from the Birds of North America Online: http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/704 doi:10.2173/bna.704
- Bart, J. and D. S. Robson. 1982. Estimating survivorship when the subjects are visited periodically. Ecology 63:1078-1090.
- Beckerman, A. P., S. P. Sharp and B. J. Hatchwell. 2011. Predation and kin-structured populations: an empirical perspective on the evolution of cooperation. Behav Ecol 22:1294-1303.
- Blomqvist, D., A. Pauliny, M. Larsson, L. Flodin. 2010. Trapped in the extinction vortex? Strong genetic effects in a declining vertebrate population. BMC Evol Biol 10:33.
- Blouin, M. S. 2003. DNA-based methods for pedigree reconstruction and kinship analysis in natural populations. Trends Ecol Evol 18:503-511.
- Boessenkool, S., S. S. Taylor, C. K. Tepolt, J. Komdeur and I. G. Jamieson. 2007. Large mainland populations of South Island robins retain greater genetic diversity than offshore island refuges. Conserv Genet 8:705-714.
- Boutin, S., R. A. Moses and M. J. Caley. 1988. The relationship between juvenile survival and litter size in wild muskrats (*Ondatra zibethicus*). J Anim Ecol 57:455-462.
- Catlin, D. H. and D. K. Rosenberg. 2008. Breeding dispersal and nesting behavior of burrowing owls following experimental nest predation. Am Midl Nat159:1-7.
- Clinchy, M., L. Zanette, R. Boonstra, J. C. Wingfield, and J. N. M. Smith. 2004. Balancing food and predator pressure induces chronic stress in songbirds. Proc R Soc B 271:2473-2479.

- Clout, M. 2001. Where protection is not enough: active conservation in New Zealand. Trends Ecol Evol 16:415-416.
- Cohas, A., N. G. Yoccoz, and D. Allainé. 2007. Extra-pair paternity in alpine marmots, *Marmota marmota*: genetic quality and genetic diversity effects. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 61:1081-1092.
- Cohas, A., C. Bonenfant, B. Kempenaers and D. Allainé. 2009. Age-specific effect of heterozygosity on survival in alpine marmots, *Marmota marmota*. Molec Ecol 18:1491-1503.
- Cohen, J. 1992. A power primer. Psych Bull 112:155-159.
- Coltman, D. W., J. W. Pilkington, J. A. Smith, and J. M. Pemberton. 1999. Parasitemediated selection against inbred Soay Sheep in a free-living, island population. Evolution 53:1259-1267.
- Cornuet, J. M., and G. Luikart. 1996. Description and power analysis of two tests for detecting recent population bottlenecks from allele frequency data. Genetics 144:2001-2014.
- Coulson, T., S. Albon, J. Slate and J. Pemberton. 1999. Microsatellite loci reveal sexdependent responses to inbreeding and outbreeding in red deer calves. Evolution 53:1951-1960.
- Creel, S., D. Christianson, S. Liley, and J. A. Winnie Jr. 2007. Predation risk affects reproductive physiology and demography of elk. Science 315: 960.
- Creel, S. and D. Christianson. 2008. Relationships between direct predation and risk effects. Trends Ecol Evol 23:194-201.
- Crochet, P. A. 2000. Genetic structure of avian populations allozymes revisited. Molec Ecol 9:1463-1469.
- Dempster, A. P., N. M. Laird, and D. B. Rubin. 1977. Maximum likelihood from incomplete data via the EM algorithm. J Roy Stat Soc B Met 39:1-38.
- Diamond, J. M., N. P. Ashmole, and P. E. Purves. 1989. The present, past and future of human-caused extinctions [and discussion]. Philos T R Soc B 325:469-477.
- Di Rienzo, A., A. C. Peterson, J. C. Garza, A. M. Valdes, M. Slatkin and N. B. Freimer. 1994. Mutational processes of simple-sequence repeat loci in human populations. P Natl Acad Sci USA 91: 3166-3170.

- Earl, D. A. and B. M. vonHoldt. 2011. STRUCTURE HARVESTER: a website and program for visualizing STRUCTURE output and implementing the Evanno method. Cons Gen Resources doi: 10.1007/s12686-011-9548-7.
- Eldridge, M. D. B., J. M. King, A. K. Lupis, P. B. S. Spencer, A. C. Taylor, L. C. Pope, and G. P. Hall. 1999. Unprecedented low levels of genetic variation and inbreeding depression in an island population of the black-footed rock-wallaby. Conserv Biol 13:531-541.
- Eldridge, M. D. B., J. E. Kinnear, K. R. Zenger, L. M. McKenzie, and P. B. S. Spencer. 2004. Genetic diversity in remnant mainland and "pristine" island populations of three endemic Australian macropodids (Marsupalia): *Macropus eugeneii*, *Lagorchestes hirsutus* and *Petrogale lateralis*. Conserv Genet 5:325-338.
- Evanno, G., S. Regnaut, and J. Goudet. 2005. Detecting the number of clusters of individuals using the software STRUCTURE: a simulation study. Molec Ecol 14:2611-2620.
- Falush, D., M. Stephens, and J. K. Pritchard. 2003. Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data: linked loci and correlated allele frequencies. Genetics 164: 1567-1587.
- Fisher, R. J. and K. L. Wiebe. 2006. Breeding dispersal of Northern flickers Colaptes auratus in relation to natural nest predation and experimentally increased perception of predation risk. Ibis 148:772-781.
- Frankham, R. 1996. Relationship of genetic variation to population size in wildlife. Conserv Biol 10:1500-1508.
- Frankham, R. 1997. Do island populations have less genetic variation than mainland populations? Heredity 78:311-327.
- Frankham, R. 1998. Inbreeding and extinction: island populations. Conserv Biol 12:665-675.
- Frankham, R. and K. Ralls. 1998. Inbreeding leads to extinction. Nature 392: 441-442.
- Frankham, R. 2005. Genetics and extinction. Biol Conserv 126:131-140.
- Gaillard, J.-M., R. Andersen, D. Delorme, and J. D. C. Linnell. 1998. Family effects on growth and survival of juvenile roe deer. Ecology 79:2878-2889.
- Goudet, J., M. Raymond, T. de Meeüs, and F. Rousset. 1996. Testing differentiation in diploid populations. Genetics 144:1933-1940.

- Goudet, J. 2005. Hierfstat, a package for R to compute and test hierarchical F-statistics. Molec Ecol Notes 5:184-186.
- Griffith, S. C., I. R. K. Stewart, D. A. Dawson, I. P. F. Owens and T. Burke. 1999. Contrasting levels of extra-pair paternity in mainland and island populations of the house sparrow (*Passer domesticus*): is there an "island effect"? Biol J Linn Soc 68:303-316.
- Hanotte, O., C. Zanon, A. Pugh, C. Greig, A. Dixon and T. Burke. 1994. Isolation and characterization of microsatellite loci in a passerine bird: the reed bunting *Emberiza schoeniclus*. Molec Ecol 3:529-530.
- Harrison, X. A, S. Bearhop, R. Inger, K. Colhoun, G. Gudmunsson, D. Hodgson, G. McElwaine, and T. Tregenza. Heterozygosity-fitness correlations in a migratory bird: an analysis of inbreeding and single-locus effects. 2011. Molec Ecol 20:4786-4795.
- Hatchwell, B. 2009. The evolution of cooperative breeding in birds: kinship, dispersal and life history. Philos T R Soc B 364:3217-3227.
- Hedrick, P. W., J. R. Adams, and J. A. Vucetich. 2011. Reevaluating and broadening the definition of genetic rescue. Conserv Biol 25:1069-1070.
- Ingvarsson, P. K. 2001. Restoration of genetic variation lost the genetic rescue hypothesis. Trends Ecol Evol 16:62-63.
- Jamieson, I.G., G.P. Wallis, and J.V. Briskie. 2006. Inbreeding and endangered species management: is New Zealand out of step with the rest of the world? Conserv Biol 20:38-47.
- Jedrzjewski, W., W. Branicki, C. Veit, I. Medugorac, M. Pilot, A.N. Bunevich, *et al.* 2005. Genetic diversity and relatedness within packs in an intensely hunted population of wolves *Canis lupis*. Acta Theriol 50:3-22.
- Jeffery, K. J., L. F. Keller, P. Arcese and M. W. Bruford. 2001. The development of microsatellite loci in the song sparrow, *Melospiza melodia* (Aves) and genotyping errors associated with good quality DNA. Molec Ecol Notes 1:11-13.
- Jennions, M. D. and M. Petrie. 2000. Why do females mate multiply? A review of the genetic benefits. Biol Rev 75:21-64.
- Kalinowski, S. T. 2004. Counting alleles with rarefaction: Private alleles and hierarchical sampling designs. Conserv Gen 5:539-543.
- Kalinowski, S. T. 2005. HP-RARE: 1.0: a computer program for performing rarefaction on measures of allelic richness. Molec Ecol Notes 5:187-189.

- Keller, L. F., P. Arcese, J. N. M. Smith, W. M. Hochachka, and S. C. Stearns. 1994. Selection against inbred song sparrows during a natural population bottleneck. Nature 372:356-357.
- Keller, L.F. and P. Arcese. 1998. No evidence for inbreeding avoidance in a natural population of song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*). Am Nat 152:380-392.
- Keller, L.F. and D. M. Waller. 2002. Inbreeding effects in wild populations. Trends Ecol Evol 17:230-241.
- Krebs, C. J. 1999. Ecological methodology. Second Edition. Benjamin/Cummings, Menlo Park, California, USA.
- Laitinen, J., J. Samarut, and E. Holtta. 1994. A nontoxic and versatile protein salting-out method for isolation of DNA. Biotechniques 17:316-322.
- Laurenson, M. K. 1994. High juvenile mortality in cheetahs (*Acinonyx jubatus*) and its consequences for maternal care. J Zool, Lond. 234:387-408.
- Lima, S.L. 1998. Nonlethal effects in the ecology of predator-prey interactions. Bioscience 48:25-34.
- Lima, S. L. 2009. Predators and the breeding bird: behavioral and reproductive flexibility under the risk of predation. Biol Rev 84:485-513.
- Ludwig, S. C. and P. H. Becker. 2012. Immigration prevents inbreeding in a growing colony of a long-lived and philopatric seabird. Ibis 154:74-84.
- Luikart, G., F. W. Allendorf, J-M. Cornuet, and W. B. Sherwin. 1998. Distortion of allele frequency distributions provides a test for recent population bottlenecks. J Hered 89:239-247.
- Luikart, G., W. B. Sherwin, B. M. Steele and F. W. Allendorf. 1998. Usefulness of molecular markers for detecting population bottlenecks via monitoring genetic change. Molec Ecol 7:963-974.
- Lynch, M. and K. Ritland. 1999. Estimation of pairwise relatedness with molecular markers. Genetics 152:1753-1766.
- Lynch, J. and D. F. Whigham. 1984. Effects of forest fragmentation on breeding bird communities in Maryland. Biol Conserv 28:287-324.
- MacDougall-Shackleton, E. A., M. Clinchy, L. Zanette, and B. D. Neff. 2011. Songbird genetic diversity is lower in anthropogenically versus naturally fragmented landscapes. Conserv Genet 12:1195-1203.

- Mays, H. L. Jr., T. Albrecht, M. Liu and G. E. Hill. 2008. Female choice for genetic complementarity in birds: a review. Genetica 134:147-158.
- McNeely, J. A., K. R. Miller, W. V. Reid, R.A. Mittermeier, and T. B. Werner. 1990. Strategies for conserving biodiversity. Environment 32(3):16-40.
- Medina, F. M., E. Bonnaud, E. Vidal, B. R. Tershy, E. S. Zavaleta, C. J. Dunlan, B. S. Keitt, M. Corre, S. W. Horwath, and M. Nogales. 2011. A global review of the impacts of invasive cats on island endangered invertebrates. Glob Change Biol 17:3503-3510.
- Nordström, M. and E. Korpimäki. 2004. Effects of island isolation and feral mink removal on bird communities on small islands in the Baltic Sea. J Anim Ecol 73:424-433.
- O'Donoghue, M. 1994. Early survival of juvenile snowshoe hares. Ecology 75:1582-1592.
- Olano-Marin, J., J. C. Mueller and B. Kempenaers. 2011. Heterozygosity and survival in blue tits (*Cyanistes caeruleus*): contrasting effects of presumably functional and neutral loci. Molec Ecol 20:4028-4041.
- Paetkau, D., W. Calvert, I. Stirling, and C. Strobeck. 1995. Microsatellite analysis of population structure in Canadian polar bears. Molec Ecol 4:347-354.
- Paetkau, D., R. Slade, M. Burdens, and A. Estoup. 2004. Genetic assignment methods for the direct, real-time estimation of migration rate: a simulation-based exploration of accuracy and power. Molec Ecol 13:55-65.
- Panzacchi, M., J. D. C. Linnell, M. Odden, J. Odden and R. Andersen. 2009. Habitat and roe deer fawn vulnterability to red fox predation. J Anim Ecol 78:1124-1133.
- Pettorrelli, N. and S. M. Durant. 2007. Family effects on early survival and variance in long-term reproductive success of female cheetahs. J Anim Ecol 79:908-914.
- Piry, S., G. Luikart, and J-M. Cornuet. 1999. BOTTLENECK: A computer program for detecting recent reductions in the effective population size using allele frequency data. J Hered 90:502-503.
- Piry, S., A. Alapette, J-M. Cornuet, D. Paetkau, L. Baudoin, and A. Estoup. 2004. GENECLASS2: A software for genetic assignment and first-generation migrant detection. J Hered 65:536-539.
- Poesel, A., H. L. Gibbs and D. A. Nelson. 2009. Twenty-one novel microsatellite DNA loci isolated from the Puget Sound white-crowned sparrow, *Zonotrichia leucophrys pugetensis*. Molec Ecol 9:795-798.

- Pollock, K. H., S. R. Winterstein, C. M. Bunck, and P. D. Curtis. 1989. Survival analysis in telemetry studies: The staggered entry design. J Wildlife Manage 53:7-15.
- Preisser, E. L., D. I. Bolnick and M. F. Benard. 2005. Scared to death? The effects of intimidation and consumption in predator-prey interactions. Ecology 86:501-509.
- Pritchard, J. K., M. Stephens, and P. Donnelly. 2000. Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data. Genetics 155:945-959.
- Queller, D. C. and K. F. Goodnight. 1989. Estimating relatedness using genetic markers. Evolution 43:258-275.
- R Development Core Team. 2008. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL http://www.R-project.org
- Raymond, M. and F. Rousset. 1995. Genepop (Version 1.2): Population genetics software for exact tests and ecumenicism. J Hered 86:248-249.
- Reid, J. M., P. Arcese, L. F. Keller, K. H. Elliott, L. Sampson, and D. Hasselquist. 2007. Inbreeding effects on immune response in free-living song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*). Proc R Soc B 274:697-706.
- Richardson, D. S., J. Komdeur and T. Burke. 2004. Inbreeding in the Seychelles warbler: Environment-dependent maternal effects. Evolution 58:2037-2048.
- Ricklefs, R. 1969. An analysis of nesting mortality in birds. Smithson Contrib Zool 9:1-48.
- Salo, P., E. Korpimäki, P. B. Banks, M. Nordström, and C. R. Dickman. 2007. Alien predators are more dangerous than native predators to prey populations. Proc R Soc B 274:1237-1243.
- Sauer, J. R., and J. E. Hines. 1989. Testing for differences among survival and recovery rates using program CONTRAST. Wildl Soc Bull 17:549-550.
- Sauer, J. R., and B. K. Williams. 1989. Generalized procedures for testing hypotheses about survival and recovery rates. J Wildlife Manage 53:137-142.
- Sardell, R. J., L. F. Keller, P. Arcese, T. Bucher and J. M. Reid. 2010. Comprehensive paternity assignment: genotype, spatial location and social status in song sparrows, *Melospiza melodia*. Molec Ecol 19:4352-4364.
- Slagsvold, T. and S. Dale. 1996. Disappearance of female pied flycatchers in relation to breeding stage and experimentally induced molt. Ecology 77:461-471.

- Slate, J, L. E. B. Kruuk, T. C. Marshall, J. M. Pemberton and T. H. Clutton-Brock. 2000. Inbreeding depression influences lifetime breeding success in a wild population of red deer (*Cervus elaphus*). Proc R Soc B 267:1657-1662.
- Smith, J. N. M., M. J. Taitt, C. M. Rogers, P. Arcese, L. F. Keller, A. L. E. V. Cassidy, and W. M. Hochachka. 1996. A metapopulation approach to the population biology of the song sparrow *Melospiza melodia*. Ibis 138:120-128.
- Smith, J. N. M., M. J. Taitt, and L. Zanette. 2002. Removing brown-headed cowbirds increases seasonal fecundity and population growth in song sparrows. Ecology 83:3037-3047.
- Soulé, M. E. and L.S. Mills. 1998. No need to isolate genetics. Science 282:1658-1659.
- SPSS Inc. 2009. PASW Statistics Version 18.0, Chicago, IL.
- Stutchbury, B. J. M., S. A. Tarof, T. Done, E. Gow, P. M. Kramer, J. Tautin, J. W. Fox, and V. Afanasyev. 2009. Tracking long-distance songbird migration by using geolocators. Science 323:896.
- Suhonen, J., K. Norrhdahl and E. Korpimäki. 1994. Avian predation risk modifies breeding bird community on a farmland area. Ecology 75:1626-1634.
- Travers, M., M. Clinchy, L. Zanette, R. Boonstra, and T. D. Williams. 2010. Indirect predator effects on clutch size and the cost of egg production. Ecol Lett 13:980-988.
- Tregenza, T. and N. Weddell. 2000. Genetic compatibility, mate choice and patterns of parentage: invited review. Molec Ecol 9:1013-1027.
- van Oosterhout, C., W. F. Hutchinson, D. P. M. Wills, and P. Shipley. 2004. Microchecker: software for identifying and correcting genotyping errors in microsatellite data. Molec Ecol Notes 4:535-538.
- Wetzel, D. P., I. R. K. Stewart, and D. F. Westneat. 2012. Heterozygosity predicts clutch and egg size but not plasticity in a house sparrow population with no evidence of inbreeding. Molec Ecol 21:406-420.
- White, T. A. and J. B. Searle. 2007. Genetic diversity and population size: island populations of the common shrew, *Sorex araneus*. Molec Ecol 16:2005-2016.
- Wilson, A. G., P. Arcese, L. F. Keller, C. L. Pruett, K. Winker, M. A. Patten and Y. L. Chan. 2009. The contribution of island populations to in situ genetic conservation. Conserv Genet 10:419-430.

- Wilson, A. G., P. Arcese, Y. L. Chan, and M. A. Patten. 2011. Micro-spatial genetic structure in song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*). Conserv Genet 12:213-222.
- Zanette, L. 2000. Fragment size and the demography of an area-sensitive songbird. J Anim Ecol 69:458-470.
- Zanette, L., M. Clinchy, and J. N. M. Smith. 2006. Food and predators affect egg production in song sparrows. Ecology 87:2459-2467.
- Zanette, L. Y., A. F. White, M. C. Allen, and M. Clinchy. 2011. Perceived predation risk reduces the number of offspring songbirds produce per year. Science 334: 1398-1401.

# Appendix A: Results for genetic diversity and relatedness with only Rum, Portland and Russell Islands included in the island landscape

## A1 Genetic diversity and relatedness

Below are the results of comparisons of standardized heterozygosity (SH), allelic richness, and relatedness, between the island and mainland landscapes, with only Portland, Rum and Russell Islands included for the island landscape, since these three locations are certain to represent distinct genetic populations. In the main thesis, these measures for the island landscape include samples from all six Gulf Islands (Portland, Rum and Russell Islands, as well as Brackman and Tortoise Islands, and Pellow Islets).

Patterns in SH, allelic richness and relatedness all remained the same as when all six islands were included in the island landscape analyses. Individuals on the islands had higher standardized heterozygosity than those on the mainland (Fig. A1a; mean  $\pm$  SE: island landscape,  $1.04 \pm 0.01$ ; mainland landscape,  $0.95 \pm 0.01$ ; Mann-Whitney standardized Z = -5.156, p < 0.001). The island landscape also had significantly higher allelic richness than the mainland landscape at 11 of 13 loci (Sign test, p = 0.022). Song sparrows inhabiting the island landscape were no longer significantly less genetically similar to one another than sparrows on the mainland, though there was a strong trend (Fig. A1b; mean  $\pm$  SE for islands -0.005  $\pm$  0.0005, and for mainland -0.004  $\pm$  0.0005; Mann-Whitney Z = 1.78, p = 0.075, permutation p = 0.06).



**Figure A1**. Mean  $(\pm$  SE) for a) standardized heterozygosity and b) genetic similarity, or relatedness, of song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) inhabiting the island and mainland landscapes, with only Portland, Rum and Russell Islands included in the island landscape calculations.

## Appendix B: Results for demographic analyses amongst island populations, including Russell Island.

## B1 Daily survival rates of nests

When the DSRs of all three islands (Portland, Rum and Russ) were compared using CONTRAST, I found nests on Rum Island had significantly greater DSRs than those on Portland and Russell Island (see Fig 4b;  $\chi^2 = 36.6$ , df = 2, p < 0.001). When Rum was removed from analyses, there were no differences between Portland and Russell Islands (see Fig 4b;  $\chi^2 = 0.53$ , df = 1, p = 0.47).

### B2 Adult survival

I found significant differences (Table B1;  $\chi^2 = 7.3$ , df = 2, p = 0.03) in adult survival during the breeding season amongst individuals inhabiting Portland (0.962 ± 0.02, mean ± SE), Rum (0.952 ± 0.05), and Russell Islands (1 ± 0.0). There were no significant differences in overwinter survival of adults amongst the three island populations (Table B1;  $\chi^2 = 2.63$ , df = 2, p = 0.27). When survival during the breeding season and overwinter survival were combined to estimate annual survival, there were no significant differences amongst Portland, Russell and Rum Islands (Table B1;  $\chi^2 = 0.29$ , df = 2, p = 0.87). **Table B1**. Survival values for adult song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) in each of the island populations (Portland, Rum and Russell Islands). Survival during the 22- week breeding season was calculated using the Kaplan-Meier method. Overwinter survival was calculated by dividing the number of individuals known to be alive in year t + 1 by the number of individuals alive at the end of year t. Survival during the breeding season and overwinter survival were multiplied to estimate annual survival. All values averaged over multiple years of study. \*Russell Island has no SE because values are only for one breeding season (2006) and one overwinter period (2006-2007).

Level of Analysis	Site	Breeding ± SE	Overwinter ± SE	Annual ± SE	Years of data
Population	Rum Island	$0.952\pm0.05$	$0.417\pm0.08$	$0.397 \pm 0.15$	3
	Portland Island	$0.962\pm0.02$	$0.486 \pm 0.09$	$0.465\pm0.23$	7
	Russell Island	$1.00\ \pm 0.00$	$0.357\pm0.00$	$0.357\pm0.00$	1*
*B3* Per capita reproduction, finite rate of increase ( $\lambda$ ) and egg production

Amongst island populations, the per capita rates of reproduction for Portland Island ( $3.1 \pm 0.37$ ), Rum Island ( $5.1 \pm 1.56$ ) and Russell Island ( $1.0 \pm 0$ ) were not significantly different from one another (Fig. B1a; Kruskal-Wallis H = 4.33, df = 2, p = 0.115). The lambda values for Portland Island ( $1.19 \pm 0.13$ ), Rum Island ( $1.78 \pm$ 0.64), and Russell Island ( $0.59 \pm 0.0$ ) were not significantly different from one another (Fig. B1b; H = 3.09, df = 2, p = 0.214). There were also no significant differences amongst the island populations in the average number of eggs produced by females (Fig. B1c; means ± SE for Rum, Portland and Russell Islands are  $10.9 \pm 1.55$ ,  $9.44 \pm 0.26$ ,  $8.27 \pm 0$ ; ANOVA, f = 1.591, df = 2, p = 0.262).

#### B4 Variance in reproductive success as a result of predation

Amongst the island populations, significant differences did exist in the proportion of successful females (Fig. B1d; Kruskal-Wallis H = 6.14, df = 2, p = 0.046), with the average proportion of successful females for Rum Island, Portland Island, and Russell Island being, respectively,  $1.0 \pm 0.0$ ,  $0.70 \pm 0.05$ , and  $0.60 \pm 0.0$ ). Similarly, I found significant differences in coefficient of variation of the number of offspring fledged by each female amongst the island populations (Fig. B1e; ANOVA, F = 10.32, df = 2, p = 0.006). Rum Island had the lowest CV ( $0.31 \pm 0.06$ , mean  $\pm$  SE), followed by Portland Island ( $0.89 \pm 0.09$ ) and Russell Island ( $1.15 \pm 0.0$ ).

#### B5 Correlating standardized heterozygosity, relatedness and demographic mechanisms

When Russell Island was included in the Spearman's rank correlations, no demographic mechanism was significantly correlated with SH (Fig B2) or relatedness (Fig B3d) after correction for multiple tests.



**Figure B1**. Mean  $\pm$  SE for demographic measures of populations of song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) inhabiting Rum, Portland and Russell Islands. A) per capita reproductive success (number of offspring produced per female), b) finite rate of increase ( $\lambda$ ) of the population, c) the total number of eggs produced per female, d) the proportion of females who successfully fledged at least one nestling e) the coefficient of variation of the number of fledged offspring and f) the survival rates of adults during the breeding season. Note that Russell Island has no SE, as estimates for this population were based on only one year of data (2006).



**Figure B2.** Spearman's rank correlations of standardized heterozygosity of song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) with a) daily survival rates of nests, b) per capita rates of reproduction, c) lambda (population growth rates), d) the proportion of females who successfully fledged at least one nestling, e) the coefficient of variation of the number of offspring fledged by each female, and f) the average rate of adult survival during the breeding season in each population. Light grey circles represent island populations (Portland, Rum and Russell Islands), and black circles represent mainland populations (Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake).



**Figure B3.** Spearman's rank correlations of relatedness (genetic similarity) of song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) with a) daily survival rates of nests, b) per capita rates of reproduction, c) lambda (population growth rates), d) the proportion of females who successfully fledged at least one nestling, e) the coefficient of variation of the number of offspring fledged by each female, and f) the average rate of adult survival during the breeding season in each population. Light grey circles represent island populations (Portland, Rum and Russell Islands), and black circles represent mainland populations (Rithet's Bog and Swan Lake).

## **Curriculum Vitae**

## **Michelle E. Bondy**

Department of Biology University of Western Ontario London, ON N6A 5B7

# **Education**

M.Sc. (Biology)	
University of Western Ontario, London, ON	In progress
B.Sc.[H] (Biology)	
University of Windsor, Windsor, ON	2009
Research Experience	
Graduate Research	2009-2011
University of Western Ontario	
<b>Volunteer Field Research Assistant</b> University of Western Ontario	May 2009
<b>Undergraduate Thesis Research</b> University of Windsor	September 2008 – April 2009
<b>Volunteer Field Research Assistant</b> University of Windsor	February – July 2008
Teaching Experience	
Graduate Teaching Assistant	

### Graduate Teaching Assistant

Department of Biology, University of Western Ontario, ON	
BIOL 2290: Research Methods in Biology	2009 - 2011
BIOL 3440: Ecology of Populations	2009 - 2010
BIOL 3442: Conservation Biology	2009 - 2010
<b>BIOL 3446: Evolutionary Genetics</b>	2010

# Awards and Scholarships

American Ornithologists' Union Student Travel Award	2011
UWO Graduate Thesis Research Award	2011
Western Graduate Research Scholarship in Biology	2009 - 2011
University of Windsor Entrance Scholarship	2004

### **Conference Presentations**

- **Bondy, Michelle E.**, Zanette, Liana, and Clinchy, Michael. July 2011. Are predators eating away at genetic diversity in song sparrow populations? 129<sup>th</sup> Stated Meeting of the American Ornithologist's Union, Jacksonville, FLA.
- **Bondy, Michelle E.**, Zanette, Liana, and Clinchy, Michael. May 2011. Are predators eating away at genetic diversity in song sparrow populations? Ontario Ecology, Ethology and Evolution Colloquium, University of Toronto Scarborough, Scarborough, ON.

**Bondy, Michelle E.**, Zanette, Liana, and Clinchy, Michael. October 2010. Are predators eating away at genetic diversity in song sparrow populations? Biology Graduate Research Forum, UWO, London, ON.

**Bondy, Michelle E.** & Doucet, Stéphanie M. March 2009. A comparative analysis of sexual dichromatism, migratory behaviour, and breeding latitude in waterfowl (family Anatidae). Ontario Biology Day, Windsor, ON.

### **Professional Memberships**

American Ornithologists' Union Cooper Ornithological Society Wilson Ornithological Society